

Convergence of the Finite Volume Method for scalar conservation laws with multiplicative noise: an approach by kinetic formulation

Sylvain Dotti, Julien Vovelle

► To cite this version:

Sylvain Dotti, Julien Vovelle. Convergence of the Finite Volume Method for scalar conservation laws with multiplicative noise: an approach by kinetic formulation. Stochastics and Partial Differential Equations: Analysis and Computations, In press. hal-01391073v4

HAL Id: hal-01391073 https://hal.science/hal-01391073v4

Submitted on 9 Jul 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Convergence of the Finite Volume Method for scalar conservation laws with multiplicative noise: an approach by kinetic formulation

Sylvain Dotti*and Julien Vovelle[†]

July 9, 2019

Abstract

Under a standard CFL condition, we prove the convergence of the explicit-intime Finite Volume method with monotone fluxes for the approximation of scalar first-order conservation laws with multiplicative, compactly supported noise. In [9], a framework for the analysis of the convergence of approximations to stochastic scalar first-order conservation laws has been developed, on the basis of a kinetic formulation. Here, we give a kinetic formulation of the numerical method, analyse its properties, and explain how to cast the problem of convergence of the numerical scheme into the framework of [9]. This uses standard estimates (like the so-called "weak BV estimate", for which we give a proof using specifically the kinetic formulation) and an adequate interpolation procedure.

Keywords: Finite Volume Method, stochastic scalar conservation law, kinetic formulation

MSC Number: 65M08 (35L60 35L65 35R60 60H15 65M12)

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2	
2	Generalized solutions, approximate solutions			
	2.1	Solutions	6	
	2.2	Generalized solutions	7	
	2.3	Approximate solutions	8	
3	The	e finite volume scheme	10	

3 The finite volume scheme

*CEMOI, , Faculté de droit et d'économie, 15 avenue René Cassin, BP 7151, 97715 Saint-Denis, La Réunion, France; e-mail: sylvain.dotti@univ-reunion.fr

[†]UMPA, CNRS, ENS de Lyon site Monod, 46, alle d'Italie, 69364 Lyon Cedex 07, France; e-mail: julien.vovelle@ens-lyon.fr. Julien Vovelle was supported by ANR projects STOSYMAP and STAB.

4	The	e kinetic formulation of the finite volume scheme	12	
	4.1	Discussion on the kinetic formulation of the finite volume scheme	12	
	4.2	Splitting	14	
	4.3	Kinetic formulation of the deterministic evolution	14	
	4.4	Construction of the discrete kinetic unknown	15	
	4.5	Discrete kinetic formulation	17	
5	Ene	rgy estimates	18	
	5.1	Notations	18	
	5.2	Energy estimate and controls by the dissipation	19	
	5.3	Proof of Proposition 5.1, Proposition 5.2, Corollary 5.3	21	
6	App	proximate kinetic equation	25	
	6.1	Proof of Lemma 4.2	25	
	6.2	Proof of Proposition 4.3	26	
	6.3	Approximate kinetic equation	26	
		6.3.1 Space consistency	28	
		6.3.2 Stochastic terms	31	
		6.3.3 Conclusion	34	
7	Convergence			
	7.1	Additional estimates	35	
		7.1.1 Tightness of (ν^{δ})	35	
		7.1.2 Tightness of (m_{δ})	38	
	7.2	Convergence	39	

1 Introduction

Stochastic first-order scalar conservation law. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}, (\mathcal{F}_t), (\beta_k(t)))$ be a stochastic basis and let T > 0. Consider the first-order scalar conservation law with stochastic forcing

$$du(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(A(u(x,t)))dt = \Phi(x,u(x,t))dW(t), \quad x \in \mathbb{T}^N, t \in (0,T).$$
(1.1)

Equation (1.1) is periodic in the space variable: $x \in \mathbb{T}^N$ where \mathbb{T}^N is the *N*-dimensional torus. The flux function A in (1.1) is supposed to be of class C^2 : $A \in C^2(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}^N)$. We assume that A and its derivatives have at most polynomial growth. Without loss of generality, we will assume also that A(0) = 0. The right-hand side of (1.1) is a stochastic increment in infinite dimension. It is defined as follows (see [7] for the general theory): W is a cylindrical Wiener process, $W = \sum_{k\geq 1} \beta_k e_k$, where the coefficients β_k are independent Brownian processes and $(e_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is a complete orthonormal system in a Hilbert space H. For each $x \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $u \in \mathbb{R}$, $\Phi(x, u) \in L_2(H, \mathbb{R})$ is defined by $\Phi(x, u)e_k = g_k(x, u)$ where $g_k(\cdot, u)$ is a regular function on \mathbb{T}^N . Here, $L_2(H, K)$ denotes

the set of Hilbert-Schmidt operators from the Hilbert space H to an other Hilbert space K. Since $K = \mathbb{R}$ in our case, this set is isomorphic to H, thus we may also define

$$\Phi(x,u) = \sum_{k \ge 1} g_k(x,u) e_k,$$

the action of $\Phi(x, u)$ on $e \in H$ being given by $\langle \Phi(x, u), e \rangle_H$. We assume $g_k \in C(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, with the bounds

$$\mathbf{G}^{2}(x,u) = \|\Phi(x,u)\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k}(x,u)|^{2} \le D_{0}(1+|u|^{2}),$$
(1.2)

$$\|\Phi(x,u) - \Phi(y,v)\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k}(x,u) - g_{k}(y,v)|^{2} \le D_{1}(|x-y|^{2} + |u-v|h(|u-v|)),$$
(1.3)

where $x, y \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$, and h is a continuous non-decreasing function on \mathbb{R}_+ such that h(0) = 0. We assume also $0 \le h(z) \le 1$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

Notation: in what follows, we will use the convention of summation over repeated indices k. For example, we write $W = \beta_k e_k$.

Compactly supported multiplicative noise. In this paper, we study the numerical approximation of (1.1): our aim is to prove the convergence of the Finite Volume method with monotone fluxes, see our main result, Theorem 7.4. Our analysis will be restricted to the case of *multiplicative noise with compact support*. Indeed, from Section 3 to Section 7, we will work under the following hypothesis: there exists $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, a < b, such that $g_k(x, u) = 0$ for all u outside the compact [a, b], for all $x \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $k \ge 1$. For simplicity, we will take a = -1, b = 1. We will assume therefore that

for all
$$u \in \mathbb{R}$$
, $|u| \ge 1 \Rightarrow g_k(x, u) = 0$, (1.4)

for all $x \in \mathbb{T}^N$, $k \ge 1$, and consider initial data with values in [-1, 1]. The solution of the continuous equation (1.1) then takes values in [-1, 1] almost surely (see [9, Theorem 22]). There is no loss in generality in considering that A is globally Lipschitz continuous then:

$$\operatorname{Lip}(A) := \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |A'(\xi)| < +\infty.$$
(1.5)

In that framework, we will build a stable and convergent approximation to (1.1) by an explicit-in-time Finite Volume method. Under (1.4), it is also natural to assume

$$\mathbf{G}^{2}(x,u) = \|\Phi(x,u)\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k}(x,u)|^{2} \le D_{0},$$
(1.6)

which is of course stronger than (1.2). In what follows, we will assume that (1.6) is satisfied.

Let us do some comments about our hypotheses. Consider the general framework where the flux A is only locally Lipschitz continuous and the noise is not compactly supported. In that situation, the Courant-Friedrichs-Lewy (CFL) condition depends effectively on the L^{∞} -norm of the numerical approximation (see Remark 4.2). We do not know how to control this L^{∞} -norm (for the continuous problem, only L^{p} -norms, with an arbitrary finite p are controlled). This is why we require the flux A to be globally Lipschitz continuous. We may actually assume solely (1.5), without considering that the noise is compactly supported. However, if (1.4) is a reasonable assumption in our opinion, (1.5) without much specification seems to us too stringent. It rules out the case of the Burgers equation for example.

Numerical approximation. Let us give a very brief summary of the theory for (1.1) and of its approximation by numerical methods. Different approximation schemes to stochastically forced first-order conservation laws have already been analysed: time-discrete schemes, [17, 1, 18], space-discrete scheme [20], and space-time Finite Volume discrete schemes. For this latter kind of numerical approximation (space-time discrete schemes), there already exists some results of convergence of the method in the literature in various frameworks:

- in space dimension 1, with strongly monotone fluxes, [21],
- in space dimension $N \ge 1$, by a flux-splitting scheme, [2],
- in space dimension $N \ge 1$, for general schemes with monotone fluxes, [3].

The Cauchy or the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem associated to the continuous problem (1.1) have been studied in [10, 19, 12, 32, 8, 6, 4, 5, 18].

The approximation of scalar conservation laws with stochastic flux has also been considered in [15] (time-discrete scheme) and [28] (space discrete scheme). For the corresponding Cauchy Problem, see [23, 22, 24, 14, 13, 16].

The reference [3] gives a result very close to the convergence statement in Theorem 7.4. In [3] the flux A, which may also depend on (t, x), is supposed to be globally Lipschitz continuous. The noise is restricted to one mode $(g_k = 0 \text{ if } k \geq 2)$. The convergence of the Finite Volume method with monotone fluxes is obtained under a CFL condition of the type: time step $\Delta t = o(h)$, where h is the space step. In the present paper, we are able to establish the convergence of the Finite Volume Method under the standard CFL condition $\Delta t = \mathcal{O}(h)$, thus relaxing the o(h) to a $\mathcal{O}(h)$, see Theorem 7.4. In our opinion, this is the essential difference between our result and the one obtained in [3]. The fact that the flux may depend on (t, x), or the number of modes affected by the noise are not decisive here. Let us give some additional comments on those two different CFL conditions. First note that they can hardly be distinguished numerically: h and $h/|\ln(|\ln(h)|)|$ are quasi similar for very small values of h. However, the fact is that our approach, which uses the kinetic formulation of the Finite Volume scheme, contrary to [3], where an approach based on entropy characterization is used, is able to yield the expected convergence result under the standard CFL condition $\Delta t = \mathcal{O}(h)$. Eventually, a last methodological difference between this present paper and the paper [3] has to be emphasized: in [3], Young measures and weak convergence with respect to the whole set of variables (ω, t, x) are used. In the paper [9], which we use to establish our convergence result, the weak mode of convergence with respect to $\omega \in \Omega$ that is used is the usual weak probabilistic mode, that is convergence in law.

Kinetic formulation. To prove the convergence of the Finite Volume method with monotone fluxes, we will use the companion paper [9] and a kinetic formulation of the Finite Volume scheme. The subject of [9] is the convergence of approximations to (1.1) in the context of the kinetic formulation of scalar conservation laws. Such kinetic formulations have been developed in [25, 26, 27, 29, 30]. In [27], a kinetic formulation of Finite Volume E-schemes is given (and applied in particular to obtain sharp CFL criteria). For Finite Volume schemes with monotone fluxes, the kinetic formulation is simpler, we give it explicitly in Proposition 4.1. Based on the kinetic formulation and an energy estimate, we derive some a priori bounds on the numerical approximation (these are "weak BV estimates" in the terminology of [11, Lemma 25.2]), see Section 5. These estimates are used in the proof of consistency of the scheme when we show that it gives rise to an approximate solution to (1.1) in the sense of Definition 2.6. There is a difference between the approach of [3] and our approach that we would like to emphasize here. The use of the kinetic formulation and of the theory in [9] gives some flexibility insofar as the sequence of approximate generalized solutions (see Definition 2.6) generated by the numerical scheme may not be at equilibrium (here, we refer to Definition 2.4). We take profit of this observation in particular in (4.27), when we build the interpolation f_{δ} . Compare to the interpolation [3, Section 5.1]. Let us also highlight the fact that we give a proof of the "weak BV estimate" slightly different from the one in [11, Lemma 25.2], since it is based solely on the kinetic formulation of the scheme. See Section 5.2.

Plan of the paper. The plan of the paper is the following one. In the preliminary section 2, we give a brief summary of the notion of solution and approximate solution to (1.1) developed in [9]. In Section 3, we describe the kind of approximation to (1.1) by the Finite Volume method that we consider here. In Section 4 we establish the kinetic formulation of the scheme. This numerical kinetic formulation is analysed as follows: energy estimates are derived in Section 5, then we show in Section 6 that this gives rise to an approximate generalized solution in the sense of Definition 2.6. We show some additional estimates and then conclude to the convergence of the scheme in Section 7. This result is stated in Theorem 7.4.

2 Generalized solutions, approximate solutions

The object of this section is to recall several results concerning the solutions to the Cauchy Problem associated to (1.1) and their approximations. We give the main statements, without much explanations or comments; those latter can be found in [9]: we give the precise references when needed.

2.1 Solutions

Definition 2.1 (Random measure). Let \mathcal{M}_b^+ $(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R})$ be the set of bounded Borel non-negative measures. If m is a map from Ω to \mathcal{M}_b^+ $(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R})$ such that, for each continuous and bounded function ϕ on $\mathbb{T}^N \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}$, $\langle m, \phi \rangle$ is a random variable, then we say that m is a random measure on $\mathbb{T}^N \times [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}$.

A random measure m is said to have a finite first moment if

$$\mathbb{E}m(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}) < +\infty.$$
(2.1)

Definition 2.2 (Solution). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$. An $L^1(\mathbb{T}^N)$ -valued stochastic process $(u(t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ is said to be a solution to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 if u and $\mathbf{f} := \mathbf{1}_{u > \xi}$ have the following properties:

- 1. $u \in L^1_{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0, T] \times \Omega),$
- 2. for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, almost surely, $t \mapsto \langle \mathbf{f}(t), \varphi \rangle$ is càdlàg,
- 3. for all $p \in [1, +\infty)$, there exists $C_p \ge 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|u(t)\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p}\right) \leq C_{p},$$
(2.2)

4. there exists a random measure m with finite first moment (2.1), such that for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, for all $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\langle \mathbf{f}(t), \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{f}_0, \varphi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \mathbf{f}(s), a(\xi) \cdot \nabla \varphi \rangle ds + \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} g_k(x, u(x, s)) \varphi(x, u(x, s)) dx d\beta_k(s) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \partial_\xi \varphi(x, u(x, s)) \mathbf{G}^2(x, u(x, s)) dx ds - m(\partial_\xi \varphi)([0, t]),$$
(2.3)

a.s., where $f_0(x,\xi) = \mathbf{1}_{u_0(x)>\xi}$, $\mathbf{G}^2 := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |g_k|^2$ and $a(\xi) := A'(\xi)$.

In item 1, the index \mathcal{P} in $u \in L^1_{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0,T] \times \Omega)$ means that u is predictable. See [9, Section 2.1.1]. The function denoted $\mathbf{f} := \mathbf{1}_{u > \xi}$ is given more precisely by

$$(x,t,\xi)\mapsto \mathbf{1}_{u(x,t)>\xi}.$$

This is the characteristic function of the subgraph of u. To study the stability of solutions, or the convergence of approximate solutions (these are two similar problems), we have to consider the stability of this property, the fact of being the "characteristic function of the subgraph of a function". If (u_n) is a sequence of functions, say on a finite measure space $X, p \in (1, \infty)$ and (u_n) is bounded in $L^p(X)$, then there is a subsequence still denoted (u_n) which converges to a function u in $L^p(X)$ -weak. Up to a subsequence, the sequence of equilibrium functions $\mathbf{f}_n := \mathbf{1}_{u_n > \xi}$ is converging to a function f in $L^{\infty}(X \times \mathbb{R})$ -weak star. The limit f is equal to $\mathbf{f} := \mathbf{1}_{u > \xi}$ if, and only if, (u_n) is converging strongly, see [9, Lemma 2.6]. When strong convergence remains a priori unknown, the limit f still keeps some structural properties. This is a kinetic function in the sense of Definition 2.4 below, [9, Corollary 2.5]. Our notion of generalized solution is based on this notion.

2.2 Generalized solutions

Definition 2.3 (Young measure). Let $(X, \mathcal{A}, \lambda)$ be a finite measure space. Let $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R})$ denote the set of probability measures on \mathbb{R} . We say that a map $\nu: X \to \mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{R})$ is a Young measure on X if, for all $\phi \in C_b(\mathbb{R})$, the map $z \mapsto \nu_z(\phi)$ from X to \mathbb{R} is measurable. We say that a Young measure ν vanishes at infinity if, for every $p \geq 1$,

$$\int_X \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\xi|^p d\nu_z(\xi) d\lambda(z) < +\infty.$$
(2.4)

Definition 2.4 (Kinetic function). Let $(X, \mathcal{A}, \lambda)$ be a finite measure space. A measurable function $f: X \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$ is said to be a kinetic function if there exists a Young measure ν on X that vanishes at infinity such that, for λ -a.e. $z \in X$, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$f(z,\xi) = \nu_z(\xi, +\infty).$$

We say that f is an equilibrium if there exists a measurable function $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $f(z,\xi) = \mathbf{1}_{u(z)>\xi}$ a.e., or, equivalently, $\nu_z = \delta_{\xi=u(z)}$ for a.e. $z \in X$.

Definition 2.5 (Generalized solution). Let $f_0: \mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$ be a kinetic function. An $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R}; [0,1])$ -valued process $(f(t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ is said to be a generalized solution to (1.1) with initial datum f_0 if f(t) and $\nu_t := -\partial_{\xi} f(t)$ have the following properties:

- 1. for all $t \in [0,T]$, almost surely, f(t) is a kinetic function, and, for all R > 0, $f \in L^1_{\mathcal{P}}(\mathbb{T}^N \times (0,T) \times (-R,R) \times \Omega)$,
- 2. for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, almost surely, the map $t \mapsto \langle f(t), \varphi \rangle$ is càdlàg,
- 3. for all $p \in [1, +\infty)$, there exists $C_p \ge 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathbb{T}^N}\int_{\mathbb{R}}|\xi|^p d\nu_{x,t}(\xi)dx\right) \le C_p,\tag{2.5}$$

4. there exists a random measure m with first moment (2.1), such that for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, for all $t \in [0, T]$, almost surely,

$$\langle f(t), \varphi \rangle = \langle f_0, \varphi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle f(s), a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \rangle ds + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_k(x,\xi) \varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}(\xi) dx d\beta_k(s) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}^2(x,\xi) \partial_\xi \varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}(\xi) dx ds - m(\partial_\xi \varphi)([0,t]).$$
(2.6)

The following statement is Theorem 3.2. in [9]. Note that we use the following terminology, what we call *solution* is a stochastic process u as in Definition 2.2. What we call *generalized* solution is a stochastic process f as in Definition 2.5.

Theorem 2.1 (Uniqueness, Reduction). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$. Assume (1.2)-(1.3). Then we have the following results:

- 1. there is at most one solution u with initial datum u_0 to (1.1).
- 2. If f is a generalized solution to (1.1) with initial datum f_0 at equilibrium: $f_0 = \mathbf{1}_{u_0 > \xi}$, then there exists a solution u to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 such that $f(x, t, \xi) = \mathbf{1}_{u(x,t) > \xi}$ a.s., for a.e. (x, t, ξ) .
- 3. if u_1, u_2 are two solutions to (1.1) associated to the initial data $u_{1,0}, u_{2,0} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$ respectively, then

$$\mathbb{E}\|(u_1(t) - u_2(t))^+\|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^N)} \le \mathbb{E}\|(u_{1,0} - u_{2,0})^+\|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^N)}.$$
(2.7)

This implies the L^1 -contraction property, and comparison principle for solutions.

2.3 Approximate solutions

In [9], we give a general method and sufficient conditions for the convergence of sequences of approximations of (1.1). The solutions of these approximate problems give rise to approximate solutions and, more precisely, to approximate generalized solutions, according to the following definition (see Definition 4.1 and Section 5 in [9]).

Definition 2.6 (Approximate generalized solutions). For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $f_0^n : \mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$ be a kinetic function. Let $((f^n(t))_{t \in [0,T]})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R}; [0,1])$ -valued processes. Assume that the functions $f^n(t)$, and the associated Young measures $\nu_t^n = -\partial_{\xi} f^n(t)$ are satisfying item 1, 2, 3, in Definition 2.5 and Equation (2.6) up to an error term, *i.e.*: for each $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R}), n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists an adapted process $\varepsilon^n(t,\varphi)$, with $t \mapsto \varepsilon^n(t,\varphi)$ almost surely continuous. Furthermore, assume that the sequence $(\varepsilon^n(t,\varphi))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfies

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\varepsilon^n(t,\varphi)| = 0 \text{ in probability,}$$
(2.8)

and that there exists some random measures m^n with first moment (2.1), such that, for all n, for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, for all $t \in [0, T]$, almost surely,

$$\langle f^{n}(t), \varphi \rangle = \varepsilon^{n}(t, \varphi) + \langle f_{0}^{n}, \varphi \rangle + \int_{0}^{t} \langle f^{n}(s), a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_{x} \varphi \rangle ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_{k}(x, \xi) \varphi(x, \xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{n}(\xi) dx d\beta_{k}(s)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}^{2}(x, \xi) \partial_{\xi} \varphi(x, \xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{n}(\xi) dx ds - m^{n}(\partial_{\xi} \varphi)([0, t]).$$
(2.9)

Then we say that (f^n) is a sequence of approximate generalized solutions to (1.1) with initial datum f_0^n .

Consider a sequence (f_n) of approximate solutions to (1.1) satisfying the following (minimal) bounds.

1. There exists $C_p \geq 0$ independent of n such that $\nu^n := -\partial_{\xi} f^n$ satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathbb{T}^N}\int_{\mathbb{R}}|\xi|^p d\nu_{x,t}^n(\xi)dx\right] \le C_p,\tag{2.10}$$

2. the measures $\mathbb{E}m^n$ satisfy the bound

$$\sup_{n} \mathbb{E}m^{n}(\mathbb{T}^{N} \times [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}) < +\infty, \qquad (2.11)$$

and the following tightness condition: if $B_R^c = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}, |\xi| \ge R\}$, then

$$\lim_{R \to +\infty} \sup_{n} \mathbb{E}m^{n} (\mathbb{T}^{N} \times [0, T] \times B_{R}^{c}) = 0.$$
(2.12)

We give in [9] the proof of the following convergence result, see Theorem 40 in [9].

Theorem 2.2 (Convergence). Suppose that there exists a sequence of approximate generalized solutions (f^n) to (1.1) with initial datum f_0^n satisfying (2.10), (2.11) and the tightness condition (2.12) and such that (f_0^n) converges to the equilibrium function $\mathbf{f}_0(\xi) = \mathbf{1}_{u_0 > \xi}$ in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$ -weak-*, where $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$. Then

- 1. there exists a unique solution $u \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^N \times [0,T] \times \Omega)$ to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 ;
- 2. let

$$u^n(x,t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \xi d\nu_{x,t}^n(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(f^n(x,t,\xi) - \mathbf{1}_{0>\xi} \right) d\xi.$$

Then, for all $p \in [1, \infty[, (u^n) \text{ is converging to } u \text{ with the following two different}$ modes of convergence: $u_n \to u$ in $L^p(\mathbb{T}^N \times (0, T) \times \Omega)$ and almost surely, for all $t \in [0, T], u_n(t) \to u(t)$ in $L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)$. In the next section, we define the numerical approximation to (1.1) by the Finite Volume method. To prove the convergence of the method, we will show that the hypotheses of Theorem 2.2 are satisfied. The most difficult part in this programme is to prove that the numerical approximations generate a sequence of approximate generalized solutions, see Section 6.

3 The finite volume scheme

Mesh. A mesh of \mathbb{T}^N is a family $\mathcal{T}_{\#}$ of disjoint connected open subsets $K \in (0,1)^N$ which form a partition of $(0,1)^N$ up to a negligible set. We denote by \mathcal{T} the mesh

$$\{K+l; l \in \mathbb{Z}^N, K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}\}$$

deduced on \mathbb{R}^N . For all distinct $K, L \in \mathcal{T}$, we assume that $\overline{K} \cap \overline{L}$ is contained in an hyperplane; the interface between K and L is denoted $K|L := \overline{K} \cap \overline{L}$. The set of neighbours of K is

$$\mathcal{N}(K) = \{ L \in \mathcal{T}; L \neq K, \ K | L \neq \emptyset \}.$$

We use also the notation

$$\partial K = \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} K | L.$$

In general, there should be no confusion between ∂K and the topological boundary $\overline{K} \setminus K$.



We also denote by |K| the N-dimensional Lebesgue Measure of K and by $|\partial K|$ (respectively |K|L|) the (N-1)-dimensional Haussdorff measure of ∂K (respectively of K|L) (the (N-1)-dimensional Haussdorff measure is normalized to coincide with the (N-1)-dimensional Lebesgue measure on hyperplanes).

Scheme Let $(A_{K\to L})_{K\in\mathcal{T},L\in\mathcal{N}(K)}$ be a family of monotone, Lipschitz continuous numerical fluxes, consistent with A. We assume that each function $A_{K\to L} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies the following properties.

• Monotonicity: $A_{K\to L}(v, w) \leq A_{K\to L}(v', w)$ for all $v, v', w \in \mathbb{R}$ with $v \leq v'$ and $A_{K\to L}(v, w) \geq A_{K\to L}(v, w')$ for all $v, w, w' \in \mathbb{R}$ with $w \leq w'$.

• Lipschitz regularity: there exists $L_A \ge 0$ such that

$$|A_{K \to L}(v, w) - A_{K \to L}(v', w')| \le |K|L|L_A(|v - v'| + |w - w'|), \qquad (3.1)$$

for all $v, v', w, w' \in \mathbb{R}$.

• Consistency:

$$A_{K \to L}(v, v) = \int_{K|L} A(v) \cdot n_{K,L} d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = |K|L|A(v) \cdot n_{K,L}, \qquad (3.2)$$

for all $v \in \mathbb{R}$, where $n_{K,L}$ is the outward unit normal to K on K|L.

• Conservative symmetry :

$$A_{K \to L}(v, w) = -A_{L \to K}(w, v), \qquad (3.3)$$

for all $K, L \in \mathcal{T}, v, w \in \mathbb{R}$.

The conservative symmetry property ensures that the numerical flux $Q_{K\to L}^n$ defined below in (3.6) satisfies $Q_{K\to L}^n = -Q_{L\to K}^n$ for all K, L.

Let $0 = t_0 < ... < t_n < t_{n+1} < ... < t_{N_T} = T$ be a partition of the time interval [0, T], with $N_T \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Given two discrete times t_n and t_{n+1} , we define $\Delta t_n = t_{n+1} - t_n$ for each $n \in \{0, ..., N_T - 1\}$. Knowing v_K^n , an approximation of the value of the solution u to (1.1) in the cell K at time t_n , we compute v_K^{n+1} , the approximation to the value of u in K at the next time step t_{n+1} , by the formula

$$|K|(v_K^{n+1} - v_K^n) + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} Q_{K \to L}^n = |K| (\Delta t_n)^{1/2} g_{k,K}(v_K^n) X_k^{n+1}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where $Q_{K\to L}^n$, $g_{k,K}$ and X_k^{n+1} are defined below in (3.6), (3.8) and (3.7). The initialization is given by the formula

$$v_K^0 = \frac{1}{|K|} \int_K u_0(x) dx, \quad K \in \mathcal{T}.$$
(3.5)

In (3.4), $\Delta t_n Q_{K \to L}^n$ is the numerical flux at the interface K|L on the range of time $[t_n, t_{n+1}]$, where $Q_{K \to L}^n$ is given by

$$Q_{K \to L}^n = A_{K \to L}(v_K^n, v_L^n). \tag{3.6}$$

We have also defined

$$X_k^{n+1} = \frac{\beta_k(t_{n+1}) - \beta_k(t_n)}{(\Delta t_n)^{1/2}}.$$
(3.7)

Then, the $(X_k^{n+1})_{k\geq 1,n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are independent random variables, normally distributed with mean 0 and variance 1. Besides, for each $n\geq 1$, the sequence $(X_k^{n+1})_{k\geq 1}$ is independent

of \mathcal{F}_n , the sigma-algebra generated by $\{X_k^{m+1}; k \ge 1, m < n\}$. The numerical functions $g_{k,K}$ are defined by the average

$$g_{k,K}(v) = \frac{1}{|K|} \int_{K} g_k(x, v) dx.$$
(3.8)

Then, in virtue of (1.6) we have

$$\mathbf{G}_{K}^{2}(v) := \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k,K}(v)|^{2} \le D_{0}, \qquad (3.9)$$

where $v \in \mathbb{R}$, $K \in \mathcal{T}$. We deduce (3.9) from (1.6) and Jensen's Inequality. Similarly, we deduce from (1.3) and Jensen's Inequality that

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} |g_{k,K}(\xi) - g_k(y,\xi)|^2 \le D_1 \frac{1}{|K|} \int_K |x-y|^2 dx,$$

for all $y \in \mathbb{T}^N$. In particular, assuming diam $(K) \leq h$ (this figures in the hypotheses (4.22), which we will assume next), we have the following consistency estimate

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} |g_{k,K}(\xi) - g_k(x,\xi)|^2 \le D_1 h^2, \tag{3.10}$$

for all $x \in K$, which will be used later (see (6.40) for example).

Remark 3.1 (Approximation in law). In effective computations, the random variables X_k^{n+1} are drawn at each time step. They are i.i.d. random variables with normalized centred normal law $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$. In this situation, we will prove the convergence in law of the Finite Volume scheme to the solution of (1.1), see Remark 7.2 after Theorem 7.4.

Remark 3.2 (Global Lipschitz Numerical Flux). We assume in (3.1) that the numerical fluxes $A_{K\to L}$ are globally Lipschitz continuous. This is consistent with (1.5). Both (3.1) and (1.5) are strong assumptions, except if a priori L^{∞} -bounds are known on the solutions to (1.1), which is the case here, due to the hypothesis of compact support (1.4). Without loss of generality, we will assume that $\operatorname{Lip}(A) \leq L_A$.

4 The kinetic formulation of the finite volume scheme

4.1 Discussion on the kinetic formulation of the finite volume scheme

The kinetic formulation of the Finite Volume method has been introduced by Makridakis and Perthame in [27]. The principle is the following one. For linear transport equations, which corresponds to a linear flux function A(u) = au, $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$, the upwind numerical flux $A_{K\to L}$ in (3.6) is given by

$$A_{K \to L}(v, w) = [a_{K \to L}^*]^+ v - [a_{K \to L}^*]^- w, \qquad (4.1)$$

where

$$a_{K\to L}^* := \int_{K|L} a \cdot n_{K|L} d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = |K|L|a \cdot n_{K,L},$$

with the usual notation $v^+ = \max(v, 0), w^- = (-w)^+$. The discrete approximation of the kinetic version of the transport equation

$$\partial_t f(x,t,\xi) + a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x f(x,t,\xi) = 0$$

by the Finite Volume method is therefore

$$|K|(f_K^{n+1}(\xi) - f_K^n(\xi)) + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) = 0,$$
(4.2)

where

$$a_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) = [a_{K \to L}^{*}(\xi)]^{+} f_{K}^{n}(\xi) - [a_{K \to L}^{*}(\xi)]^{-} f_{L}^{n}(\xi)$$

and

$$a_{K \to L}^{*}(\xi) := \int_{K|L} a(\xi) \cdot n_{K|L} d\mathcal{H}^{N-1} = |K|L|a(\xi) \cdot n_{K,L}.$$
(4.3)

Recall that \mathbf{G}_K is defined by (3.9). One may think that a kinetic formulation of (3.4) consistent with (4.2) should be, for instance, the following identity

$$|K|(\mathbf{f}_{K}^{n+1}(\xi) - \mathbf{f}_{K}^{n}(\xi)) + \Delta t_{n} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi)$$

= $|K|(\Delta t_{n})^{1/2} \delta_{v_{K}^{n}=\xi} g_{k,K}(\xi) X_{k}^{n+1} + |K| \Delta t_{n} \partial_{\xi} \Big(m_{K}^{n}(\xi) - \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{G}_{K}^{2}(\xi) \delta_{v_{K}^{n}=\xi} \Big), \quad (4.4)$

where

$$\mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) := \mathbf{1}_{v_K^n > \xi}.\tag{4.5}$$

However, we do not know how to find a formulation (4.4)-(4.5) satisfying both the constraint $m_K^n(\xi) \geq 0$ for all $K \in \mathcal{T}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, and some satisfactory consistency conditions for $a_{K\to L}^n(\xi)$. The fact is that such a kinetic formulation as (4.4)-(4.5) is not necessary to our purpose. Indeed, the kinetic formulation authorizes general kinetic functions (Definition 2.4). It is not mandatory to work with sole equilibrium functions as in (4.5). We will exploit this flexibility of the approach by kinetic formulation and follow a procedure into three steps:

- Split the Finite Volume scheme into a step of deterministic evolution and a step of stochastic evolution (Section 4.2),
- Associate a discrete kinetic formulation to the deterministic evolution (Section 4.3),
- Gather the deterministic evolution (in its kinetic form) and the stochastic evolution to build an adequate discrete kinetic function (Section 4.4).

Once this is done, we explain in Section 4.5 to what extent the discrete kinetic function build at the end of Section 4.4 does satisfy a satisfactory discrete kinetic formulation.

4.2 Splitting

For $K \in \mathcal{T}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let us define $v_K^{n+1/2}$ as the solution to

$$|K|(v_K^{n+1/2} - v_K^n) + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} A_{K \to L}(v_K^n, v_L^n) = 0.$$
(4.6)

Then $v_K^{n+1/2}$ is the state reached after a step of deterministic evolution, by the discrete approximation of the equation $u_t + \operatorname{div}(A(u)) = 0$.

4.3 Kinetic formulation of the deterministic evolution

We claim that, to (4.6) corresponds the kinetic formulation

$$|K| \left(\mathbf{f}_K^{n+1/2}(\xi) - \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) \right) + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) = |K| \Delta t_n \, \partial_{\xi} m_K^n(\xi), \tag{4.7}$$

where $\mathbf{f}_{K}^{m}(\xi) = \mathbf{1}_{v_{K}^{m} > \xi}, m \in \{n, n + 1/2\}$ and

$$m_K^n \ge 0. \tag{4.8}$$

In (4.7), $a_{K\to L}^n(\xi)$ is a function

$$a_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) = a_{K \to L}(\xi, v_{K}^{n}, v_{L}^{n}), \qquad (4.9)$$

where $(\xi, v, w) \mapsto a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w)$ satisfies the following consistency conditions:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) - a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{0 > \xi} \right] d\xi = A_{K \to L}(v, w), \tag{4.10}$$

$$a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, v) = a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{v > \xi},$$
 (4.11)

for all ξ , $v, w \in \mathbb{R}$, where $a_{K \to L}^*$ is defined by (4.3). Let us state and prove the existence of the kinetic formulation (4.7)-(4.8)-(4.10)-(4.11).

Proposition 4.1 (Kinetic formulation of the Finite Volume method). Set

$$a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{\xi < v \land w} + [\partial_2 A_{K \to L}(v, \xi) \mathbf{1}_{v \le \xi \le w} + \partial_1 A_{K \to L}(\xi, w) \mathbf{1}_{w \le \xi \le v}]$$

$$(4.12)$$

and

$$m_K^n(\xi) = -\frac{1}{\Delta t_n} \left[(v_K^{n+1/2} - \xi)^+ - (v_K^n - \xi)^+ \right] - \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\xi}^{+\infty} a_{K \to L}^n(\zeta) d\zeta. \quad (4.13)$$

Let us also assume that

$$\Delta t_n \frac{|\partial K|}{|K|} L_A \le 1, \quad \forall K \in \mathcal{T},$$
(4.14)

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $K \in \mathcal{T}$. Then the equations (4.7)-(4.8)-(4.10)-(4.11) are satisfied. Additionally, we have

$$a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = 0, \quad when \ \xi \ge v \lor w, \tag{4.15}$$

for all $K, L \in \mathcal{T}$.

Remark 4.1 (Support of m_K^n). By (4.13), the definition (4.12) of $a_{K\to L}$ and the equation (4.6), $\xi \mapsto m_K^n(\xi)$ is compactly supported in the convex envelope of the points $v_K^{n+1/2}$, v_K^n , $\{v_L^n; L \in \mathcal{N}(K)\}$.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. We check at once (4.7) and (4.10), (4.11), (4.15). To show that $m_K^n(\xi) \ge 0$, let us introduce

$$\Phi_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = \int_{\xi}^{+\infty} a_{K \to L}(\zeta, v, w) d\zeta$$
(4.16)

$$\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi) = \Phi_{K\to L}(\xi, v_{K}^{n}, v_{L}^{n}) = \int_{\xi}^{+\infty} a_{K\to L}^{n}(\zeta) d\zeta.$$
(4.17)

A simple computation gives the formula

$$\Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi) = A_{K\to L}(v_K^n, v_L^n) - A_{K\to L}(v_K^n \wedge \xi, v_L^n \wedge \xi).$$
(4.18)

By comparison with the identity $(v - \xi)^+ = v - v \wedge \xi$, the quantities $\Phi^n_{K \to L}(\xi)$ appears, in virtue of (4.18), as the numerical entropy fluxes associated to the entropy $\eta(v) := (v - \xi)^+$. Then $m^n_K(\xi) \ge 0$ is equivalent to the discrete entropy inequality

$$\frac{1}{\Delta t_n} \left[\eta(v_K^{n+1/2}) - \eta(v_K^n) \right] + \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \le 0.$$
(4.19)

It is a classical fact that, under the CFL condition (4.14), the deterministic Finite Volume scheme (4.6) has the following monotonicity property: $v_K^{n+1/2}$ in (4.6) is a nondecreasing function of each of the entries v_K^n , v_L^n , $L \in \mathcal{N}(K)$. This implies (4.19) then. See Lemma 25.1 and Lemma 27.1 in [11].

Remark 4.2. Consider the general framework where the flux A is only locally Lipschitz and the noise is not compactly supported. Then the constant L_A in the CFL condition (4.14) has to be replaced (up to a factor |K|L|) by the Lipschitz constant of the numerical fluxes $A_{K\to L}$ over the compact $[m_K^n, M_K^n]$, where

$$m_K^n = \min_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K) \cup \{K\}} v_L^n, \quad M_K^n = \max_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K) \cup \{K\}} v_L^n.$$

This puts a restriction on the time-step Δt_n , which is governed by the L^{∞} -norm of the numerical solution at time t_n . The issue then, is that, in the stochastic context of (3.4), no control on this L^{∞} -norm is known. This is why we assume that the flux A is globally Lipschitz, which, to repeat ourselves, is relevant if an a priori bound on the L^{∞} -norm of the solution to the continuous equation (1.1) is known. The condition of compact support (1.4) provides this a priori bound.

4.4 Construction of the discrete kinetic unknown

For a fixed final time T > 0, we denote by \mathfrak{d}_T the set of admissible space-step and timesteps, defined as follows: if h > 0 and $(\Delta t) = (\Delta t_0, \ldots, \Delta t_{N_T-1}), N_T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, then we say that $\delta := (h, (\Delta t)) \in \mathfrak{d}_T$ if

$$\frac{1}{h} \in \mathbb{N}^*, \quad t_{N_T} := \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \Delta t_n = T, \quad \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \Delta t_n \le 1.$$
(4.20)

We say that $\delta \to 0$ if

$$|\delta| := h + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \Delta t_n \to 0. \tag{4.21}$$

For a given mesh parameter $\delta = (h, (\Delta t)) \in \mathfrak{d}_T$, we assume that a mesh \mathcal{T} is given, with the following properties:

diam
$$(K) \le h$$
, $\alpha_N h^N \le |K|$, $|\partial K| \le \frac{1}{\alpha_N} h^{N-1}$, (4.22)

for all $K \in \mathcal{T}$, where

$$\operatorname{diam}(K) = \max_{x,y \in K} |x - y|$$

is the diameter of K and α_N is a given positive absolute constant depending on the dimension N only. Note the following consequence of (4.22):

$$h|\partial K| \le \alpha_N^{-2}|K|,\tag{4.23}$$

for all $K \in \mathcal{T}$. We introduce then the discrete unknown $v_{\delta}(t)$ defined a.e. by

$$v_{\delta}(x,t) = v_K^n, \quad x \in K, t_n \le t < t_{n+1}.$$
 (4.24)

We will also need the intermediary discrete function

$$v_{\delta}^{\flat}(x, t_{n+1}) = v_K^{n+1/2}, \quad x \in K,$$
(4.25)

defined for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and then the linear interpolation $v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x, t)$, corresponding to the stochastic evolution, given by

$$v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t) = v_{K}^{n+1/2} + g_{k,K}(v_{K}^{n})(\beta_{k}(t) - \beta_{k}(t_{n})), \quad t_{n} \le t < t_{n+1}, x \in K.$$
(4.26)

Indeed, $v_K^{\sharp}(t) := v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)$, $x \in K$ is, for $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$, an interpolation between $v_K^{n+1/2}$ and v_K^{n+1} . Eventually, for $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$, we define the discrete kinetic unknown $f_{\delta}(t)$ by the interpolation formula

$$f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) = \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \mathbf{1}_{v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)>\xi} + \frac{t_{n+1}-t}{\Delta t_n} \mathbf{1}_{v_{\delta}(x,t)>\xi}, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}, \ x \in \mathbb{T}^N.$$
(4.27)

4.5 Discrete kinetic formulation

We state two results in this section. In Lemma 4.2 below, we compare f_{δ} to the piecewise constant equilibrium function \mathbf{f}_{δ} defined by

$$\mathbf{f}_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) = \mathbf{f}_{K}^{n} = \mathbf{1}_{v_{\delta}(x,t) > \xi}, \quad x \in K, t \in [t_{n}, t_{n+1}).$$
(4.28)

Then, in Proposition 4.3, we give the discrete kinetic formulation satisfied by f_{δ} .

Lemma 4.2. Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0. Assume that (1.3), (1.4), (1.6), (3.1), and (4.29) are satisfied. For $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$, assume (4.22). Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24) and let f_{δ} , \mathbf{f}_{δ} be defined by (4.27)-(4.28). Assume that the CFL condition

$$\Delta t_n \le (1-\theta) \frac{\alpha_N^2}{2L_A} h, \quad 0 \le n < N_T, \tag{4.29}$$

where $\theta \in (0,1)$, is satisfied. We have then

$$\mathbb{E} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} |f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) - \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(x,t,\xi)| d\xi \right]^2 dx dt$$

$$\leq \left[\theta^{-1} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + D_0 T (1+\theta^{-1}) \right] \left[\sup_{0 \leq n < N_T} \Delta t_n \right]. \quad (4.30)$$

To f_{δ} we will associate the Young measure

$$\nu_{x,t}^{\delta}(\xi) := -\partial_{\xi} f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) = \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \delta(\xi = v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)) + \frac{t_{n+1}-t}{\Delta t_n} \delta(\xi = v_{\delta}(x,t)), \qquad (4.31)$$

We also denote by m_{δ} the discrete random measure given by

$$dm_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}} \mathbf{1}_{K \times [t_n, t_{n+1})}(x,t) m_K^n(\xi) \, dx dt d\xi.$$
(4.32)

Proposition 4.3 (Discrete kinetic equation). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0. Assume that (1.3), (1.4), (1.6), (3.1) and (4.29) are satisfied. For $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$, assume (4.22). Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24) and let f_{δ} , ν^{δ} , m_{δ} be defined by (4.27), (4.31), (4.32) respectively. Then f_{δ} satisfies the following discrete kinetic formulation: for all $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1}]$, $x \in K$, for all $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$\langle f_{\delta}(x,t),\psi\rangle - \langle f_{\delta}(x,t_n),\psi\rangle$$

$$= -\frac{1}{|K|} \int_{t_n}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi)\psi(\xi)d\xi ds - \int_{t_n}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \partial_{\xi}\psi(\xi)m_K^n(\xi)d\xi ds$$

$$+ \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \int_{t_n}^t g_{k,K}(v_K^n)\psi(v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,s))d\beta_k(s) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \int_{t_n}^t \mathbf{G}_K^2(v_K^n)\partial_{\xi}\psi(v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,s))ds.$$
(4.33)

In (4.33), $\langle f_{\delta}(x,t), \psi \rangle$ stands for the product

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi)\psi(\xi)d\xi.$$

The proof of Lemma 4.2 and Proposition 4.3 is reported to Section 6. Indeed, it uses some estimates that are established in the following Section 5.

5 Energy estimates

The Finite Volume scheme (3.4) may be compared to the stochastic parabolic equation

$$du^{\varepsilon}(x,t) + \operatorname{div}(A(u^{\varepsilon}(x,t)))dt - \varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(x,t)dt = \Phi(x,u^{\varepsilon}(x,t))dW(t).$$
(5.1)

For (5.1), we have the energy estimate

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\mathbb{E}\|u^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \varepsilon\mathbb{E}\|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\|\mathbf{G}(\cdot, u^{\varepsilon}(\cdot, t))\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2}.$$
(5.2)

(Recall that **G** is defined by (1.2)). In the following Proposition 5.1, we obtain an analogous result for the Finite Volume scheme (3.4). To state Proposition 5.1, we need first some notations.

5.1 Notations

Let us define the conjugate function $\overline{f} = 1 - f$. We introduce the following conjugate quantities:

$$\bar{a}_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w) = a_{K\to L}^*(\xi) - a_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w), \quad \overline{\Phi}_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w) = \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} \bar{a}_{K\to L}(\zeta, v, w) d\zeta.$$
(5.3)

We compute

$$\overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = A_{K \to L}(\xi, \xi) - A_{K \to L}(v \land \xi, w \land \xi).$$
(5.4)

We recognize in (5.4) a numerical flux associated to the entropy

$$v \mapsto (v - \xi)^- = \xi - v \wedge \xi$$

From the explicit formula (4.12), we obtain the identity

$$\bar{a}_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w) = a_{K\to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{\xi > v \lor w} + (a_{K\to L}^*(\xi) - \partial_2 A_{K\to L}(v, \xi)) \mathbf{1}_{v \le \xi \le w} + (a_{K\to L}^*(\xi) - \partial_1 A_{K\to L}(\xi, w)) \mathbf{1}_{w \le \xi \le v}.$$
(5.5)

Note that, for $a_{K\to L}$ defined by (4.12), we have (using the fact that $\text{Lip}(A) \leq L_A$),

$$\sup\{|a_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w)|; \xi, v, w \in \mathbb{R}\} \le L_A|K|L|.$$

$$(5.6)$$

Formula (5.5) gives the estimate

$$\sup\{|\bar{a}_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w)|; \xi, v, w \in \mathbb{R}\} \le 2L_A |K|L|,$$
(5.7)

which is not optimal as (5.6) may be, since it has an additional factor 2. Consequently, we will use a slightly different formulation for $\overline{\Phi}_{K\to L}$:

$$\overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} \overline{b}_{K \to L}(\zeta, \xi, v, w) d\zeta, \qquad (5.8)$$

where

$$\bar{b}_{K\to L}(\zeta,\xi,v,w) := a_{K\to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{1}_{\xi > v \lor w} + \partial_1 A_{K\to L}(\zeta,\xi) \mathbf{1}_{v \le \xi \le w} + \partial_2 A_{K\to L}(\xi,\zeta) \mathbf{1}_{w \le \xi \le v}.$$
(5.9)

We also introduce

$$\bar{b}_{K\to L}^n(\zeta,\xi) = \bar{b}_{K\to L}(\zeta,\xi,v_K^n,v_L^n).$$
(5.10)

Now for $\bar{b}_{K\to L}$, we have an estimate similar to (5.6):

$$\sup\{|b_{K\to L}(\xi, v, w)|; \xi, \zeta, v, w \in \mathbb{R}\} \le L_A|K|L|.$$

$$(5.11)$$

5.2 Energy estimate and controls by the dissipation

Proposition 5.1 (Energy estimate for the Finite Volume Scheme). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24). Set

$$\mathcal{E}(T) = \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} m_K^n(\xi) d\xi.$$
(5.12)

Then, under the CFL condition (4.14), we have the energy estimate

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\|v_{\delta}(T)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \mathbb{E}\mathcal{E}(T) = \frac{1}{2}\|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1}\Delta t_{n}\sum_{K\in\mathcal{T}_{\#}}|K|\sum_{k\geq1}|g_{k,K}(v_{K}^{n})|^{2}.$$
(5.13)

In the following proposition we derive various estimates, where the right-hand side is controlled by the dissipation term $\mathcal{E}(T)$ introduced in (5.12).

Proposition 5.2 (Control by the dissipation). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24). Let v_{δ}^{\flat} be defined by (4.25). Then, under the CFL condition

$$2\Delta t_n \frac{|\partial K|}{|K|} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{|a_{K \to L}^n(\xi)|}{|K|L|} \le (1 - \theta), \quad 0 \le n < N, \ K, L \in \mathcal{T},$$
(5.14)

where $\theta \in (0, 1)$, we have the following control:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi$$
$$\leq \frac{2}{\theta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi, \qquad (5.15)$$

and

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_+ \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \le \frac{2}{\theta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi.$$
(5.16)

 $Under \ the \ CFL \ condition$

$$2\Delta t_n \frac{|\partial K|}{|K|} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{|\bar{b}_{K \to L}^n(\xi, \xi)|}{|K|L|} \le (1 - \theta), \quad 0 \le n < N, \ K, L \in \mathcal{T},$$
(5.17)

where $\theta \in (0,1)$, (and where $\bar{b}_{K\to L}^n$ is defined by (5.10)) we have the following control:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\mathbf{f}_L^n - \mathbf{f}_K^n) \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi$$
$$\leq \frac{2}{\theta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi, \qquad (5.18)$$

and

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_{-} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \leq \frac{2}{\theta} \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi.$$
(5.19)

Eventually, as a corollary to Proposition 5.2, we obtain the following estimates.

Corollary 5.3 (Weak derivative estimates). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Assume that (1.4), (1.6), (3.1), (4.22) and (4.29) are satisfied. Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24). Let v_{δ}^{\flat} be defined by (4.25). Then we have the spatial estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[(\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) + (\mathbf{f}_L^n - \mathbf{f}_K^n) \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \right] d\xi$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\theta} \| v_{\delta}(0) \|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{D_0 T}{\theta}, \quad (5.20)$$

and the two following temporal estimates:

$$\mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \left\| v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \le \frac{1}{\theta} \| v_{\delta}(0) \|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{D_0 T}{\theta}, \tag{5.21}$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \le \frac{1}{\theta} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{2D_0T}{\theta}.$$
 (5.22)

5.3 Proof of Proposition 5.1, Proposition 5.2, Corollary 5.3

Proof of Proposition 5.1. We multiply first (4.7) by ξ and sum the result over $K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ to get the following balance equation

$$\frac{1}{2} \|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} m_{K}^{n}(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \|v_{\delta}(t_{n})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2}.$$
(5.23)

We have used Remark 4.1 to justify the integration by parts in the term with the measure m_K^n . The term

$$\sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi)$$
(5.24)

related to the flux term in (4.7) has vanished. Indeed, (5.24) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) + a_{L \to K}^n(\xi)$$
(5.25)

by relabelling of the indexes of summation. All the arguments in (5.25) cancel individually in virtue of the conservative symmetry property (3.3) of $A_{K\to L}(v, w)$. Indeed, one can check that $a_{K\to L}$ inherits this property, *i.e.*

$$a_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = -a_{L \to K}(\xi, w, v), \quad K, L \in \mathcal{T}, \ v, w \in \mathbb{R},$$
(5.26)

owing to the explicit formula (4.12). To obtain the equation for the balance of energy corresponding to the stochastic forcing, we use the equation

$$v_K^{n+1} = v_K^{n+1/2} + (\Delta t_n)^{1/2} g_{k,K}(v_K^n) X_k^{n+1},$$
(5.27)

which follows from the equation of the scheme (3.4) and the definition of $v_K^{n+1/2}$ by (4.6). Taking the square of both sides of (5.27) and using the independence of X_k^{n+1} and $v_K^{n+1/2}$, we obtain the identity

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{\Delta t_{n}}{2}\mathbb{E}\sum_{K\in\mathcal{T}_{\#}}|K|\sum_{k\geq1}|g_{k,K}(v_{K}^{n})|^{2}.$$
 (5.28)

Adding (5.23) to (5.28) gives (5.13).

Remark 5.1. Note that (5.27) also gives

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} = \frac{\Delta t_{n}}{2}\mathbb{E}\sum_{K\in\mathcal{T}_{\#}}|K|\sum_{k\geq1}|g_{k,K}(v_{K}^{n})|^{2},$$
(5.29)

for all $0 \leq n \leq N_T$.

Proof of Proposition 5.2. We begin with the proof of the estimates (5.15) and (5.16). Multiplying Equation (4.7) by $\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n} := 1 - \mathbf{f}_{K}^{n}$, we obtain

$$|K|\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}(\xi)\mathbf{f}_{K}^{n+1/2}(\xi) + \Delta t_{n}\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}(\xi)\sum_{L\in\mathcal{N}(K)}a_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi) = |K|\Delta t_{n}\,\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}(\xi)\partial_{\xi}m_{K}^{n}(\xi).$$
(5.30)

Next, we multiply (5.30) by $(\xi - v_K^n)$ and sum the result over ξ , K. We use the first identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\xi - v_K^n) \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) \partial_{\xi} m_K^n(\xi) d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\xi - v_K^n)_+ \partial_{\xi} m_K^n(\xi) d\xi = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi, \quad (5.31)$$

(once again, we use the fact that m_K^n is compactly supported to do the integration by parts in (5.31), *cf.* Remark 4.1) and the second identity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\xi - v_K^n) \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) \mathbf{f}_K^{n+1/2}(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} (v_K^{n+1/2} - v_K^n)_+^2,$$

to obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_+ \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= -\Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\xi - v_K^n)_+ a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi. \quad (5.32)$$

We transform the right-hand side of (5.32) by integration by parts in ξ : this gives, by (4.16)-(4.17), the term

$$-\Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi.$$
(5.33)

Then we can relabel the indices in (5.33) and use the conservative symmetry relation (consequence of (5.26))

$$\Phi_{K \to L}(\xi, v, w) = -\Phi_{L \to K}(\xi, w, v), \qquad (5.34)$$

to see that

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_{+} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi \\
= \frac{1}{2} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n(\xi) - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi)) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi. \quad (5.35)$$

Note that the integrand $(\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n(\xi) - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi))\Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi)$ is non-negative, due to the monotonicity properties of $A_{K\to L}$ and (4.18). At this stage, in order to deduce (5.15) from (5.35), we have to prove that, under the CFL condition (5.14), a fraction of the right-hand side of (5.35) controls the term

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_+ \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T})}^2,$$

(see the estimate (5.40) below). To this end, we integrate Equation (5.30) over $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. This gives

$$|K| [v_K^{n+1/2} - v_K^n]_+ + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi \le 0,$$
(5.36)

which reads also

$$|K| \left[v_K^{n+1/2} - v_K^n \right]_+ \le -\Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \Phi_{K \to L}^n(v_K^n)$$

by (4.17) (note that it is also the discrete entropy inequality (4.19) with $\xi = v_K^n$). Taking the square, using the Cauchy-Schwarz Inequality and summing over $K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}$, we deduce that

$$\left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_{+} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \leq \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \Delta t_n \frac{|\partial K|}{|K|} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \frac{|\Phi_{K \to L}^n(v_K^n)|^2}{|K|L|}.$$
 (5.37)

Next, we note that $|\Phi_{K\to L}^n(v_K^n)|^2$ is non-trivial only if $v_K^n < v_L^n$. In that case, it can be decomposed as

$$|\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(v_{K}^{n})|^{2} = -2\int_{v_{K}^{n}}^{v_{L}^{n}}\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)\partial_{\xi}\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)d\xi = 2\int_{v_{K}^{n}}^{v_{L}^{n}}\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)a_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)d\xi, \quad (5.38)$$

which is bounded by

$$2\sup_{\xi\in\mathbb{R}}|a_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)|\int_{v_{K}^{n}}^{v_{L}^{n}}|\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)|d\xi = 2\sup_{\xi\in\mathbb{R}}|a_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)|\int_{\mathbb{R}}(\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{L}^{n}-\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n})\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi)d\xi.$$
 (5.39)

Under the CFL condition (5.14), the estimate (5.37) can be completed into

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_+ \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 \leq (1-\theta) \frac{1}{2} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n(\xi) - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi)) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi. \quad (5.40)$$

Using (5.35) then, we deduce the two estimates (5.15)-(5.16).

To prove the estimates (5.18) and (5.19), we proceed similarly: we start from the following equation on $\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}$, which is equivalent to (4.7):

$$|K|(\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n+1/2}(\xi) - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}(\xi)) + \Delta t_{n} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \bar{a}_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) = -|K| \Delta t_{n} \,\partial_{\xi} m_{K}^{n}(\xi).$$
(5.41)

Then we multiply Eq. (5.41) by \mathbf{f}_K^n , to obtain

$$|K|\mathbf{f}_K^n \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^{n+1/2}(\xi) + \Delta t_n \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \mathbf{f}_K^n \bar{a}_{K \to L}^n(\xi) = -|K| \Delta t_n \, \mathbf{f}_K^n \partial_{\xi} m_K^n(\xi), \tag{5.42}$$

which is the analogue to (5.30). In a first step, we multiply (5.42) by $(v_K^n - \xi)$ and sum the result over $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, $K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}$. This gives (compare to (5.32)-(5.35))

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \left[v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right]_{-} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi \\
= -\Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \mathbf{f}_K^n \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \\
= \frac{1}{2} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} (\mathbf{f}_L^n - \mathbf{f}_K^n) \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi). \quad (5.43)$$

To conclude to (5.18)-(5.19) under the CFL condition (5.17), we proceed as in (5.36)-(5.40) above, with the minor difference that, instead of the identity $\partial_{\xi} \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) = \bar{a}_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi)$, we use the formula $\partial_{\xi} \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) = \bar{b}_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi, \xi)$ (see (5.10)) when we develop $|\bar{\Phi}_{K \to L}^{n}(v_{K}^{n})|^{2}$.

Remark 5.2. A slight modification of the lines (5.38)-(5.39) in the proof above shows that

$$|\Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi \vee v_K^n)|^2 \le 2\sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |a_{K\to L}^n(\xi)| \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n) \Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi) d\xi,$$
(5.44)

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. This estimate will be used in the proof of Lemma 6.2 below.

Proof of Corollary 5.3. Assume that (4.29) is satisfied. It is clear, in virtue of the estimate (4.23) and the bound (5.6) and (5.11) on $a_{K\to L}^n$ and $\bar{b}_{K\to L}^n$, that (4.29) implies the CFL conditions (5.14) and (5.17). Besides, due to (3.9), we have the bound

$$\sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k,K}(v_K^n)|^2 \le D_0.$$
(5.45)

This gives

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k,K}(v_K^n)|^2 \le D_0 T,$$

which, inserted in the energy estimate (5.13), shows that

$$\mathbb{E}\mathcal{E}(T) \le \frac{1}{2} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}D_{0}T.$$

By addition of the estimates (5.15)-(5.18) and (5.16)-(5.19) respectively, we obtain therefore (5.20) and (5.21). There remains to prove (5.22). For that purpose, we use (5.29)and (5.45) to obtain

$$\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} = \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_{n+1}) \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} - \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} \leq D_{0} \Delta t_{n}.$$
(5.46)
Summing (5.46) over $0 \leq n < N_{T}$ and using (5.21) yields (5.22).

6 Approximate kinetic equation

Recall that f_{δ} is defined by (4.27). We will show in this section that f_{δ} generates a sequence of approximate solutions: see Proposition 6.1. First, we will use the results of Section 5 to give the proofs of Lemma 4.2 and Proposition 4.3.

6.1 Proof of Lemma 4.2

Since

$$f_{\delta}(t) - \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(t) = \frac{t - t_n}{\Delta t_n} (\mathbf{1}_{v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) > \xi} - \mathbf{1}_{v_{\delta}(t) > \xi}),$$

for $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$ and since the factor $\frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n}$ is less than 1, the quantity we want to estimate is bounded by the following L^2 -norm:

$$\mathbb{E}\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) - \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(x,t,\xi)| d\xi \right|^2 dx dt \le \mathbb{E}\int_0^T \|v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) - v_{\delta}(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 dt.$$
(6.1)

By definition of $v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)$ and independence and (3.9), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) - \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(x,t,\xi)| d\xi \right|^2 dx dt \le D_0 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} |t - t_n| dt \\ + \mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \Delta t_n \left\| v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) - v_{\delta}(t_n) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2.$$

Using the temporal estimate (5.21), we deduce (4.30).

Remark 6.1. Note for a future use (cf. (6.38)) that we have just proved the estimate

$$\mathbb{E} \int_{0}^{T} \|v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) - v_{\delta}(t)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} dt \leq \left[\theta^{-1} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + D_{0}T(1+\theta^{-1})\right] \left[\sup_{0 \leq n < N_{T}} \Delta t_{n}\right].$$
(6.2)

6.2 Proof of Proposition 4.3

Let Ψ be a primitive function of the function ψ and let $x \in K$, $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$. By definition of f_{δ} , see Equation (4.27), we have

$$\langle f_{\delta}(x,t),\psi\rangle - \langle f_{\delta}(x,t_n),\psi\rangle = \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \left[\Psi(v^{\sharp}(x,t)) - \Psi(v_{\delta}(x,t))\right],$$

which we decompose as the sum of two terms:

$$\frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \left[\Psi(v^{\sharp}(x,t)) - \Psi(v^{\flat}(x,t_{n+1})) \right], \tag{6.3}$$

and

$$\frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \left[\Psi(v^{\flat}(x, t_{n+1})) - \Psi(v_{\delta}(x, t)) \right].$$
(6.4)

We use first the deterministic kinetic formulation (4.7), which we multiply by $\psi(\xi)$. By integration over $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, it gives

$$(\mathbf{6.4}) = -\frac{1}{|K|} \int_{t_n}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \psi(\xi) d\xi ds - \int_{t_n}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} \partial_{\xi} \psi(\xi) m_K^n(\xi) d\xi ds.$$
(6.5)

By Itō's Formula on the other hand (cf. (4.26)), the term (6.3) is equal to

$$\frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \int_{t_n}^t g_{k,K}(v_K^n) \psi(v_\delta^{\sharp}(x,s)) d\beta_k(s) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \int_{t_n}^t \mathbf{G}_K^2(v_K^n) \partial_{\xi} \psi(v_\delta^{\sharp}(x,s)) ds.$$
(6.6)

Summing (6.5) and (6.6), we obtain (4.33).

6.3 Approximate kinetic equation

We will prove now that the Finite Volume scheme (3.4) is consistent with (1.1). Indeed, we will show, using the estimates obtained in Section 5, that an approximate kinetic equation for f_{δ} in the sense of (2.9) can be deduced from the discrete kinetic formulation (4.33).

Proposition 6.1 (Approximate kinetic equation). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0. Assume that (1.3), (1.4), (1.6), (3.1) and (4.29) are satisfied. For $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$, assume (4.22). Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24) and let f_{δ} , ν^{δ} , m_{δ} be defined by (4.27), (4.31), (4.32) respectively. If (δ_m) is a sequence in \mathfrak{d}_T which tends to zero according to (4.21), then (f_{δ_m}) is a sequence of approximate generalized solutions to (1.1). Besides, $(f_{\delta_m}(0))$ converges to the equilibrium function $\mathbf{f}_0 = \mathbf{1}_{u_0 > \xi}$ in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$ -weak-*.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. The last assertion is clear: $(f_{\delta_m}(0))$ converges to the equilibrium function $\mathbf{f}_0 = \mathbf{1}_{u_0 > \xi}$ in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$ -weak-* since, by (3.5), $v^{\delta_m}(0) \to u_0$ a.e.

on \mathbb{T}^N . We will show that, for all $t \in [0,T]$, for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$,

$$\langle f_{\delta}(t), \varphi \rangle = \langle f_{\delta}(0), \varphi \rangle - \iiint_{\mathbb{T}^{N} \times [0,t] \times \mathbb{R}} \partial_{\xi} \varphi(x,\xi) dm_{\delta}(x,s,\xi) + \varepsilon^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle f_{\delta}(s), a(\xi) \nabla_{x} \varphi \rangle ds$$
(6.7)

$$+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_k(x,\xi) \varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi) dx d\beta_k(s)$$
(6.8)

$$+\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}^2(x,\xi) \partial_\xi \varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi) dx ds, \tag{6.9}$$

where the error term $\varepsilon^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$ satisfies

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\varepsilon^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^2 \right] = 0,$$
(6.10)

for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$. Note that the convergence in probability (2.8) follows from (6.10). Given $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, we introduce the averages over the cells $K \in \mathcal{T}$

$$\varphi_K(\xi) = \frac{1}{|K|} \int_{|K|} \varphi(x,\xi) dx, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.11)

To prove (6.9), we apply the discrete kinetic equation (4.33) to $\xi \mapsto \varphi(x,\xi)$ for a fixed $x \in K$. Then we sum the result over $x \in \mathbb{T}^N$. By the telescopic formula

$$\langle f_{\delta}(x,t),\varphi\rangle - \langle f_{\delta}(x,0),\varphi\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \langle f_{\delta}(x,t\wedge t_{n+1}),\varphi\rangle - \langle f_{\delta}(x,t\wedge t_n),\varphi\rangle,$$

we obtain

$$\langle f_{\delta}(t), \varphi \rangle = \langle f_{\delta}(x, 0), \varphi \rangle - \iiint_{\mathbb{T}^{N} \times [0, t] \times \mathbb{R}} \partial_{\xi} \varphi(\xi) dm_{\delta}(x, s, \xi) - \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \int_{t \wedge t_{n}}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) \varphi_{K}(\xi) ds d\xi$$
(6.12)

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\zeta)d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta)d\beta_{k}(s)$$
(6.13)

$$+\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}_{\delta}^2(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi}\varphi(x,\zeta) d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) ds, \qquad (6.14)$$

where the measure $\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}$ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

$$\langle \mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}, \psi \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \frac{t \wedge t_{n+1} - t \wedge t_n}{\Delta t_n} \mathbf{1}_{[t_n, t_{n+1})}(s) \psi(v_{\delta}(x, s), v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x, s)), \quad \psi \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^2),$$
(6.15)

and the discrete coefficient $g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi)$ is equal to $g_{k,K}(\xi)$ (cf. (3.8)) when $x \in K$ (similarly, $\mathbf{G}_{\delta}(x,\xi) := \mathbf{G}_{K}(\xi), x \in K$). Note that $\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}$ is simply the Dirac mass at $(v_{\delta}(x,s), v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,s))$, except when $t_{l} \leq s \leq t$ (where l is the index such that $t_{l} \leq t < t_{l+1}$), in which case it is the same Dirac mass, with an additional multiplicative factor $\frac{t-t_{l}}{\Delta t_{l}}$.

The term (6.12) is a discrete space derivative: we will show that it is an approximation of the term (6.7). The two terms (6.13) and (6.14) are close to (6.8) and (6.9) respectively. We analyse those terms separately (see Section 6.3.1, Section 6.3.2). The conclusion of the proof of Proposition 6.1 is given in Section 6.3.3.

6.3.1 Space consistency

Lemma 6.2. Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Assume that (1.4), (1.6), (3.1), (4.22) and (4.29) are satisfied. Then, for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi f_\delta(s) dx ds d\xi$$

= $-\sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \varphi_K(\xi) d\xi + \varepsilon_{\text{space},0}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) + \varepsilon_{\text{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi),$
(6.16)

for all $t \in [0,T]$, with the estimates

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\varepsilon_{\text{space},0}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2} \leq T |L_{A}|^{2} ||\nabla_{x}\varphi||_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2} \left[\frac{1}{\theta} ||v_{\delta}(0)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{2} + D_{0}T\left(1+\frac{1}{\theta}\right)\right] \sup_{0 \leq n < N_{T}} \Delta t_{n}, \quad (6.17)$$

and, for all compact $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}$, for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$ supported in $\mathbb{T}^N \times \Lambda$,

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |\varepsilon_{\text{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^2 \le \frac{16L_AT}{\alpha_N^2} |\Lambda|^2 \|\partial_{\xi}\nabla_x\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^2 \left[\frac{1}{\theta} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{2D_0T}{\theta}\right] h. \quad (6.18)$$

Proof of Lemma 6.2. To begin with, we replace f_{δ} by \mathbf{f}_{δ} in the left-hand side of (6.16). This accounts for the first error term

$$\varepsilon^{\delta}_{\mathrm{space},0}(t,\varphi) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi(f_{\delta}(s) - \mathtt{f}_{\delta}(s)) dx ds d\xi.$$

By Lemma 4.2, we have the estimate (6.17) for $\varepsilon_{\text{space},0}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$. Then, we use the following development:

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(s) dx ds d\xi$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_K a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(s) dx ds d\xi, \tag{6.19}$$

Since $f_{\delta}(s)$ has a constant value f_{K}^{n} in $K \times [t_{n}, t_{n+1})$, we obtain, using the Stokes formula,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(s) dx ds d\xi$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \varphi_{K|L} \mathbf{f}_K^n ds d\xi, \tag{6.20}$$

where $a_{K\to L}^*(\xi)$ is defined by (4.3) and $\varphi_{K|L}$ is the mean-value of φ over K|L:

$$\varphi_{K|L}(\xi) = \frac{1}{|K|L|} \int_{K|L} \varphi(x,\xi) d\mathcal{H}^{N-1}(x).$$

We add a corrective term to (6.20) to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(s) dx ds d\xi$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N_T - 1} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) (\varphi_{K|L} - \varphi_K) \mathbf{f}_K^n ds d\xi. \quad (6.21)$$

Equation (6.21) follows indeed from (6.20) by the anti-symmetry property (5.26) of $a_{K\to L}$. Note that Equation (6.21) is more natural than Equation (6.20) (when one has in mind the decomposition of a volume integral over each cell K), by use of the correspondence

$$a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \simeq \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a^*_{K \to L}(\xi)(\varphi_{K|L} - \varphi_K) \text{ in } K.$$

By (5.26), the discrete convective term in (6.12) is

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) (\varphi_{K|L} - \varphi_K) ds d\xi.$$
(6.22)

To estimate how close is the right-hand side of (6.21) to (6.22), we have to compare $a_{K\to L}^n(\xi)$ and $a_{K\to L}^*(\xi)\mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi)$. Let $\gamma \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}_{\xi})$. If $v_K^n \leq v_L^n$, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma(\xi) \left[a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) - a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \right] d\xi = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma(\xi) \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n(\xi) a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) d\xi \tag{6.23}$$

by the consistency hypothesis (4.11) and the support condition (4.15). Using an integration by parts and (4.16), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma(\xi) \left[a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) - a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \right] d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma'(\xi) \Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi \lor v_K^n) d\xi.$$
(6.24)

Similarly, if $v_L^n \leq v_K^n$, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma(\xi) \left[a_{K \to L}^*(\xi) \mathbf{f}_K^n(\xi) - a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \right] d\xi = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \gamma'(\xi) \overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi \wedge v_K^n) d\xi.$$
(6.25)

We deduce that (6.16) is satisfied with an error term

$$\varepsilon_{\text{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} a(\xi) \cdot \nabla_x \varphi \, \mathbf{f}_{\delta}(s) dx ds d\xi + \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \int_{t \wedge t_n}^{t \wedge t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} a_{K \to L}^n(\xi) \varphi_K(\xi) d\xi, \quad (6.26)$$

which is bounded as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} |\varepsilon_{\text{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)| &\leq \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \int_{t\wedge t_{n}}^{t\wedge t_{n+1}} \sum_{K\in\mathcal{T}_{\#}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{L\in\mathcal{N}(K)} |\partial_{\xi}\varphi_{K}|_{L} - \partial_{\xi}\varphi_{K}| \\ &\times \Big[\mathbf{1}_{v_{K}^{n}\leq v_{L}^{n}} |\Phi_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi\vee v_{K}^{n})| + \mathbf{1}_{v_{L}^{n}< v_{K}^{n}} |\overline{\Phi}_{K\to L}^{n}(\xi\wedge v_{K}^{n})| \Big] d\xi, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.27)$$

By (4.22), we have

$$|\partial_{\xi}\varphi_{K|L}(\xi) - \partial_{\xi}\varphi_{K}(\xi)| \le \|\partial_{\xi}\nabla_{x}\varphi(\cdot,\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi}(\xi)\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}h_{\xi$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. If φ is compactly supported in $\mathbb{T}^N \times \Lambda$, we obtain thus the bound

$$|\varepsilon_{\text{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)| \le \|\partial_{\xi}\nabla_{x}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}|\Lambda|B_{\text{space}}h, \qquad (6.28)$$

where B_{space} is equal to

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \Delta t_n \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \Big[\mathbf{1}_{v_K^n \le v_L^n} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |\Phi_{K \to L}^n(\xi \lor v_K^n)| + \mathbf{1}_{v_L^n < v_K^n} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |\overline{\Phi}_{K \to L}^n(\xi \land v_K^n)| \Big].$$

We seek for a bound of order $h^{-1/2}$ on B_{space} . For notational convenience we will estimate only the first part

$$B_{\text{space}}^{1} := \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \mathbf{1}_{v_{K}^{n} \leq v_{L}^{n}} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |\Phi_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi \lor v_{K}^{n})|,$$

since the bound on the second part in $B_{\rm space}$ will be similar. By the Cauchy Schwarz inequality, we have

$$\mathbb{E}|B_{\text{space}}^{1}|^{2} \leq \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |\partial K| \times \mathbb{E} \sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \frac{\mathbf{1}_{v_{K}^{n} \leq v_{L}^{n}}}{|K|L|} \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} |\Phi_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi \lor v_{K}^{n})|^{2}.$$

We use the estimate (5.44), which gives

$$|\Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi \vee v_K^n)|^2 \le 2L_A |K|L| \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_L^n - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_K^n) \Phi_{K\to L}^n(\xi) d\xi,$$

due to (5.6). We also use (4.23), and get

$$\mathbb{E}|B_{\text{space}}^{1}|^{2} \leq \frac{2L_{A}T}{\alpha_{N}^{2}h} \mathbb{E}\sum_{n=0}^{N_{T}-1} \Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} \sum_{L \in \mathcal{N}(K)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\bar{\mathbf{f}}_{L}^{n} - \bar{\mathbf{f}}_{K}^{n}) \Phi_{K \to L}^{n}(\xi) d\xi.$$

With (5.20) and (6.28), we conclude with (6.18).

6.3.2 Stochastic terms

Lemma 6.3. Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Assume that (1.4), (1.6), (3.1) and (4.29) are satisfied. Then, for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N \times \mathbb{R})$, we have

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\zeta)d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta)d\beta_{k}(s)$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_{k}(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\xi)d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi)dxd\beta_{k}(s) + \varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) + \varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t,\varphi), \qquad (6.29)$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}_{\delta}^{2}(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi}\varphi(x,\zeta) d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}^{2}(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi}\varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi) dx ds + \varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},3}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) + \varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},4}^{\delta}(t,\varphi), \qquad (6.30)$$

where

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon_{W,1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq 4D_{1}T\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}h^{2} + 2D_{0}\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right],$$
(6.31)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},3}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq 4D_{1}T\|\partial_{\xi}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}h^{2}+2D_{0}\|\partial_{\xi}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right],\qquad(6.32)$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon_{W,2}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq 2D_{0}\|\varphi\|_{L_{x,\xi}^{\infty}}^{2}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right] \\
+8\left\{D_{1}\|\varphi\|_{L_{x,v}^{\infty}}^{2}+D_{0}\|\partial_{\xi}\varphi\|_{L_{x,\xi}^{\infty}}^{2}\right\} \\
\times\left[\frac{1}{\theta}\|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T})}^{2}+\frac{3D_{0}T}{\theta}\right]\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right]^{1/2}.$$
(6.33)

Eventually, $\varepsilon_{W,4}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$ satisfies the same estimate as $\varepsilon_{W,2}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$ with $\partial_{\xi}\varphi$ instead of φ in the right-hand side of (6.33).

Proof of Lemma 6.3. Define

$$\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \left[g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi) - g_{k}(x,\xi) \right] \varphi(x,\zeta) d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) dx d\beta_{k}(s),$$

and let $\varepsilon^{\delta}_{\mathrm{W},2}(t,\varphi)$ be equal to

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} g_k(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\zeta)d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) - \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_k(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\xi)d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi) \right] dxd\beta_k(s).$$

Then (6.29) is satisfied. Note that $n \mapsto \varepsilon_{W,1}^{\delta}(t_n, \varphi)$ is a (\mathcal{F}_{t_n}) -martingale. By Doob's Inequality, Jensen's Inequality (note that $\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}) \leq 1$) and (3.10), we deduce

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},1}^{\delta}(t_{n},\varphi)|^{2}\right] \\ \leq & 4\mathbb{E}\int_{0}^{t_{N_{T}}}\left|\int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}}\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}\left[g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi)-g_{k}(x,\xi)\right]\varphi(x,\zeta)d\mu_{x,s,t_{N_{T}}}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta)\right|^{2}dxds \\ \leq & 4\mathbb{E}\int_{0}^{t_{N_{T}}}\int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}}\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}|g_{k,\delta}(x,\xi)-g_{k}(x,\xi)|^{2}d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta)dxds\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2} \\ \leq & 4D_{1}T\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}h^{2}. \end{split}$$

Besides, we see, using Itō's Isometry, and (1.2), (3.9), that

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[t_n,t_{n+1})}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)-\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},1}^{\delta}(t_n,\varphi)|^2\right]\\ \leq & \mathbb{E}\int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}}\left|\int_{\mathbb{T}^N}\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}\left[g_{k,\delta}(x,v_{\delta}(s,x))-g_k(x,v_{\delta}(s,x))\right]\varphi(x,v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(s,x))\right|^2dxds\\ \leq & 2D_0\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^2\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_T}\Delta t_n\right]. \end{split}$$

Similarly, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq 2D_{0}\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t_{n},\varphi)|^{2}\right].$$

Using Doob's Inequality, we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq 2D_{0}\|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^{2}\left[\sup_{0\leq n< N_{T}}\Delta t_{n}\right] + 4\mathbb{E}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t_{N_{T}},\varphi)|^{2}.$$

By Itō's Formula, $\mathbb{E}|\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},2}^{\delta}(t_{N_T},\varphi)|^2$ is bounded from above by

$$\mathbb{E}\int_{0}^{t_{N_{T}}}\int_{\mathbb{T}^{N}}\sum_{k\geq 1}\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}}g_{k}(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\zeta)d\mu_{x,s,t_{N_{T}}}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta)-\int_{\mathbb{R}}g_{k}(x,\xi)\varphi(x,\xi)d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi)\right|^{2}dxds.$$
(6.34)

We have, for $t \in [0,T)$, $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$, $n < N_T$, and $\psi \in C_b(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R})$,

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu_{x,t,t_{N_T}}^{\delta}, \psi \rangle = & \langle \nu_{x,t} \otimes \nu_{x,t}, \psi \rangle - \frac{t - t_n}{\Delta t_n} \left[\psi(v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t), v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)) - \psi(v_{\delta}(x,t), v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)) \right] \\ & - \frac{t_{n+1} - t}{\Delta t_n} \left[\psi(v_{\delta}(x,t), v_{\delta}(x,t)) - \psi(v_{\delta}(x,t), v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t)) \right]. \end{split}$$

We estimate therefore (6.34) by the two terms

$$2\mathbb{E}\sum_{0 \le n < N_T} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \sum_{k \ge 1} \left| g_k(x, v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x, t)) - g_k(x, v_{\delta}(x, t)) \right|^2 |\varphi(x, \xi)|^2 dx dt,$$
(6.35)

and

$$2\mathbb{E}\sum_{0\leq n< N_T} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \sum_{k\geq 1} \left| \varphi(x, v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x, t)) - \varphi(x, v_{\delta}(x, t)) \right|^2 |g_k(x, v_{\delta}(x, t))|^2 dx dt.$$
(6.36)

Note that (1.3) gives, for all $\eta > 0$, and $\overline{v}, v \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\sum_{k\geq 1} |g_k(x,\overline{v}) - g_k(x,v)|^2 \le D_1 |\overline{v} - v| \le D_1 \left(\eta + \frac{1}{\eta} |\overline{v} - v|^2\right).$$
(6.37)

In virtue of (6.37), we can bound (6.35) by

$$2D_1 \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,v}}^2 \left[\eta + \frac{1}{\eta} \mathbb{E} \int_0^T \|v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) - v_{\delta}(t)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)^2}^2 dt\right].$$

Using (6.2) and taking $\eta = \left[\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \Delta t_n\right]^{1/2}$, we deduce that (6.35) is bounded by

$$2D_1 \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^2 \left[\frac{1}{\theta} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{3D_0T}{\theta}\right] \left[\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \Delta t_n\right]^{1/2}.$$
 (6.38)

An estimate on (6.36) is obtained as follows: (6.36) is bounded by

$$2D_0 \|\partial_{\xi}\varphi\|^2_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}} \mathbb{E} \int_0^T \|v^{\sharp}_{\delta}(t) - v_{\delta}(t)\|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)^2} dt.$$

Using (6.2) gives an estimate on (6.36) from above by

$$2D_0 \|\partial_{\xi}\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}}^2 \left[\frac{1}{\theta} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 + \frac{3D_0T}{\theta}\right] \left[\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \Delta t_n\right].$$
(6.39)

Next, we denote by $\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},3}^\delta(t,\varphi)$ and $\varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},4}^\delta(t,\varphi)$ the error terms

$$\begin{split} &\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \left[\mathbf{G}_{k,\delta}^2(x,\xi) - \mathbf{G}_k^2(x,\xi) \right] \partial_{\xi} \varphi(x,\zeta) d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) dx ds, \\ &\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}_k^2(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi} \varphi(x,\zeta) d\mu_{x,s,t}^{\delta}(\xi,\zeta) - \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbf{G}_k^2(x,\xi) \partial_{\xi} \varphi(x,\xi) d\nu_{x,s}^{\delta}(\xi) \right] dx ds. \end{split}$$

We have, for $x \in K$, $\eta > 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{G}_{k,\delta}^2(x,\xi) - \mathbf{G}_k^2(x,\xi)| &= \left| \sum_{k \ge 1} (g_{k,K}(\xi) - g_k(x,\xi)) (g_{k,K}(\xi) + g_k(x,\xi)) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\eta} \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k,K}(\xi) - g_k(x,\xi)|^2 + \eta \sum_{k \ge 1} |g_{k,K}(\xi)|^2 + |g_k(x,\xi)|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Using (3.10), (1.2) and (3.9) and taking $\eta = h$, we see that

$$|\mathbf{G}_{k,\delta}^2(x,\xi) - \mathbf{G}_k^2(x,\xi)| \le (D_0 + D_1)h.$$
(6.40)

This is sufficient to obtain (6.32) and the last statement of the lemma (estimate on $\varepsilon_{W,4}^{\delta}(t,\varphi)$).

6.3.3 Conclusion

To conclude, let us set

$$\varepsilon_{\delta}(\varphi) = \sum_{j=1}^{4} \varepsilon_{\mathrm{W},j}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) - \varepsilon_{\mathrm{space},0}^{\delta}(t,\varphi) - \varepsilon_{\mathrm{space},1}^{\delta}(t,\varphi).$$

Then the approximate kinetic equation (6.9) follows from the discrete kinetic equation (6.14) and from the consistency estimates (6.16)-(6.29)-(6.30). Since $||v_{\delta}(0)||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)} \leq ||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}$ (the projection (3.5) onto piecewise-constant functions is an orthogonal projection in $L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)$), it follows from the error estimates (6.17), (6.18), (6.31), (6.32), (6.33) and from the CFL condition (4.29) that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\varepsilon^{\delta}(t,\varphi)|^{2}\right] \leq C(\varphi)|\delta|^{1/2},$$

where $C(\varphi)$ is a constant that depends on $||u_0||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}$, on D_0 , D_1 , L_A , on the parameter θ in (4.29), on T, on $|\Lambda|$, where Λ is the support of φ , and on the norms $||\partial_{x_i}^{j_i}\partial_{\xi}^k\varphi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N\times\mathbb{R})}$ with $j_i + k \leq 2$.

7 Convergence

To apply Theorem 2.2 on the basis of Proposition 6.1, we need to establish some additional estimates on the numerical Young measure ν^{δ} and on the numerical random measure m^{δ} . This is done in Section 7.1. We conclude to the convergence of the Finite Volume method in Section 7, Theorem 7.4.

7.1 Additional estimates

7.1.1 Tightness of (ν^{δ})

Lemma 7.1 (Tightness of (ν^{δ})). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Assume that (1.4), (1.6), (3.1) and (4.29) are satisfied. Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24) and let ν^{δ} be defined by (4.31). Let $p \in [1, +\infty)$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathbb{T}^N}\int_{\mathbb{R}}(1+|\xi|^p)d\nu_{x,t}^{\delta}(\xi)dx\right)\leq C_p,\tag{7.1}$$

where C_p is a constant depending on D_0 , p, T and $||u_0||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}$ only.

Proof of Lemma 7.1. It is sufficient to do the proof for $p \in 2\mathbb{N}^*$ since $1 + |\xi|^p \leq 2(1 + |\xi|^q)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ if $q \geq p$. Note that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\xi|^p d\nu_{x,t}^{\delta}(\xi) dx = \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} \|v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p + \frac{t_{n+1}-t}{\Delta t_n} \|v_{\delta}(t)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p,$$

for $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$. Recall also that v_{δ}^{\sharp} is defined by (4.26). Let

$$\varphi_p(\xi) = p\xi^{p-1} = \partial_\xi \xi^p \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We multiply Equation (4.7) by $\varphi_p(\xi)$ and sum the result over K, ξ . We obtain then, using (5.26),

$$\|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} + p(p-1)\Delta t_{n} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \xi^{p-2} m_{K}^{n}(\xi) d\xi = \|v_{\delta}(t_{n})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p}.$$
(7.2)

In particular, we have the L^p estimate

$$\|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} \leq \|v_{\delta}(t_{n})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p}.$$
(7.3)

Let us now estimate the increase of L^p -norm due to the stochastic evolution. By Itō's Formula and (4.26), we have

$$|v_{K}^{n+1}|^{p} = |v_{K}^{n+1/2}|^{p} + p \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{n+1}} v_{K}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-1} g_{k,K}(v_{K}^{n}) d\beta_{k}(t) + \frac{1}{2} p(p-1) \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{n+1}} v_{K}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-2} \mathbf{G}_{K}^{2}(v_{K}^{n}) dt,$$

and thus

$$\|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} = \|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} + p \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{n+1}} \langle v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-1}, \gamma_{k}^{n} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})} d\beta_{k}(t) + \frac{1}{2} p(p-1) \int_{t_{n}}^{t_{n+1}} \langle v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-2}, \Gamma^{n} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})} dt, \quad (7.4)$$

where

$$\gamma_k^n(x) = g_{k,K}(v_K^n), \quad \Gamma^n(x) = \mathbf{G}_K^2(v_K^n), \quad x \in K.$$

Using (7.3) and induction, we obtain

$$\|v_{\delta}(T)\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} \leq \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p} + M_{N_{T}} + B_{N_{T}},$$
(7.5)

where (M_N) is the martingale

$$M_N = p \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \langle v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-1}, \gamma_k^n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)} d\beta_k(t)$$

and

$$B_N = \frac{1}{2}p(p-1)\sum_{n=0}^{N-1}\int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \langle v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-2}, \Gamma^n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)} dt.$$
(7.6)

Note that the argument $\langle v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)^{p-2}, \Gamma^n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}$ in B_N is non-negative since $\Gamma^n \geq 0$ and $p-2 \in 2\mathbb{N}$. Consequently, $\mathbb{E} \sup_{0 \leq n \leq N_T} B_n = \mathbb{E} B_{N_T}$ and we deduce the following bound

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{0\le n\le N_T} B_n \le \frac{1}{2}p(p-1)D_0 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \mathbb{E}\|v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)\|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2} dt.$$
(7.7)

We have used (3.9) to obtain (7.7). If p = 2, then $\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2} = 1$ and is therefore bounded. To estimate $\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2}$ when $p \ge 4$, note that $v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) = v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) + z_{\delta}^{n}(t)$ for $t \in (t_n, t_{n+1})$, where $z_{\delta}^{n}(x, t) := \gamma_k^{n}(x)(\beta_k(t) - \beta_k(t_n))$ is, conditionally to \mathcal{F}_n , a Gaussian random variable with variance, for $x \in K$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|z_K^n(t)|^2|\mathcal{F}_n\right] = (t - t_n)\mathbf{G}_K^2(v_K^n) \le D_0\Delta t_n$$

by (3.9). In particular, we have the bound

$$\mathbb{E} \| z_{\delta}^{n}(t) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p-2} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \mathbb{E} \left(\mathbb{E} \left[|z_{K}^{n}(t)|^{p-2} |\mathcal{F}_{n} \right] \right)$$
$$= C(p) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \mathbb{E} \left(\mathbb{E} \left[|z_{K}^{n}(t)|^{2} |\mathcal{F}_{n} \right] \right)^{(p-2)/2} \le C(p) (D_{0} \Delta t_{n})^{(p-2)/2},$$

where C(p) is a constant depending on p. It follows, using (7.3), that we have the estimate

$$\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p-2} \leq C(p, D_{0}) \left(1 + \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1}) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p-2} \right) \\
\leq C(p, D_{0}) \left(1 + \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_{n}) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}^{p-2} \right),$$

where $C(p, D_0)$ is a constant depending on p and D_0 . In particular, we have

$$\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \sup_{t \in (t_n, t_{n+1})} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2} \le C(p, D_0) \left(1 + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_n) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2} \right).$$
(7.8)

By (7.7), we conclude that

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} B_n \le C(p, D_0) T\left(1 + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \|v_\delta(t_n)\|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2}\right),\tag{7.9}$$

for possibly a different constant $C(p, D_0)$. Let us now turn to the estimate of the quantity $\mathbb{E} \sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} |M_n|$. The martingale (M_N) can be rewritten as a stochastic integral (with an integrand which is a simple function). Consequently, the quadratic variation of M_{N_T} is

$$\langle M_{N_T} \rangle = p^2 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \sum_k |\langle |v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)|^{p-1}, \gamma_k^n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)} |^2 dt$$

$$\leq p^2 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} \sum_k ||v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)|^{p-1} ||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 ||\gamma_k^n||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 dt$$

$$= p^2 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} ||v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)||_{L^{2(p-1)}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{2(p-1)} ||\Gamma^n||_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^N)} dt$$

$$\leq p^2 D_0 \sum_{n=0}^{N_T-1} \int_{t_n}^{t_{n+1}} ||v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(t)||_{L^{2(p-1)}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{2(p-1)} dt,$$

by (3.9). Using (7.8) (with 2p instead of p) gives thus

$$\mathbb{E}\langle M_{N_T} \rangle \le p^2 D_0 TC(2p, D_0) \left(1 + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_\delta(t_n) \|_{L^{2p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{2p-2} \right).$$
(7.10)

By Burkholder - Davis - Gundy's Inequality, there exists a constant $C_{\rm BDG}$ such that

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} |M_n| \le C_{\mathrm{BDG}} \mathbb{E} \langle M_{N_T} \rangle^{1/2}.$$

By Jensen's Inequality and the estimate (7.10), we obtain

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} |M_n| \le C_{\text{BDG}} (\mathbb{E} \langle M_{N_T} \rangle)^{1/2} \\
\le C_{\text{BDG}} p (D_0 T C(2p, D_0))^{1/2} \left(1 + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_\delta(t_n) \|_{L^{2p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{2p-2} \right)^{1/2}.$$
(7.11)

We can conclude now. Since $\mathbb{E}M_{N_T} = 0$, taking expectation in (7.5) (where we replace N_T by n) gives

 $\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_n) \|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p \le \| v_{\delta}(0) \|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p + \mathbb{E} B_n.$

Note (see Section 6.3.3) that

$$||v_{\delta}(0)||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})} \leq ||u_{0}||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N})} \leq ||u_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{N})}.$$

By (7.9), this gives

$$\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_n) \|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p \le \| u_0 \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p + C(p, D_0) T \left(1 + \sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_n) \|_{L^{p-2}(\mathbb{T}^N)}^{p-2} \right).$$

By iteration on $p \in 2\mathbb{N}^*$, we deduce, for every such p, that

$$\sup_{0 \le n < N_T} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta}(t_n) \|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p \le C_p, \tag{7.12}$$

where the constant C_p depends on p, D_0 , T and $||u_0||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}$. Denote generally by C_p any such constant, possibly different from line to line, depending only on p, D_0 , T and $||u_0||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}$. By (7.12) with 2p-2 instead of p, we have $\mathbb{E}\sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} |M_n| \le C_p$. Then we use (7.9) with p-2 instead of p to obtain $\mathbb{E}\sup_{0 \le n \le N_T} B_n \le C_p$. By (7.5), we deduce

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{0\leq n< N_T} \|v_{\delta}(t_n)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p \leq C_p,$$
(7.13)

which concludes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 7.1. Summing over n and taking expectation in (7.4) gives the estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\sum_{0 \le n < N_T} \|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p - \|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p = \mathbb{E}B_{N_T}.$$

A corollary of (7.9) and (7.12) is the bound

$$\mathbb{E}\sum_{0 \le n < N_T} \|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p - \|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p \le C_p,$$
(7.14)

where C_p is a constant depending on D_0 , p, T and $||u_0||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}$ only

7.1.2 Tightness of (m_{δ})

Lemma 7.2 (Tightness of (m_{δ})). Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0 and $\delta \in \mathfrak{d}_T$. Assume that (1.4), (1.6), (3.1) and (4.29) are satisfied. Let $(v_{\delta}(t))$ be the numerical unknown defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(4.24) and let m_{δ} be defined by (4.32). Then, for all $p \geq 1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E} \iiint_{\mathbb{T}^N \times [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}} (1 + |\xi|^p) dm_{\delta}(x, t, \xi) \le C_p,$$
(7.15)

where C_p is a constant depending on D_0 , p, T and $||u_0||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)}$ only.

Proof of Lemma 7.2. Let $p \in 2\mathbb{N}^*$. By (7.2), we have

$$\frac{1}{2}p(p-1)\mathbb{E}\sum_{0\le n< N_T} \Delta t_n \sum_{K\in\mathcal{T}_{\#}} |K| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \xi^{p-2} m_K^n(\xi) d\xi \\ = \mathbb{E}\sum_{0\le n< N_T} \|v_\delta(t_n)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p - \|v_\delta^\flat(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p.$$

This gives

$$\frac{1}{2}p(p-1)\mathbb{E}\iiint_{\mathbb{T}^N\times[0,T)\times\mathbb{R}} \xi^{p-2} dm_{\delta}(x,t,\xi) \leq \mathbb{E} \|v_{\delta}(0)\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p + \mathbb{E}\sum_{0\leq n< N_T-1} \|v_{\delta}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p - \|v_{\delta}^{\flat}(t_{n+1})\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N)}^p.$$

The bound (7.14) gives the desired conclusion.

7.2 Convergence

We may now apply the theorem 2.2, to obtain the following results.

Theorem 7.3. Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0. Assume that the hypotheses (1.3), (1.4), (1.6), are satisfied. Then there exists a unique solution u to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 , in the sense of Definition 2.2. Besides, for all $1 \leq p < +\infty$, almost surely, $u \in C([0,T]; L^p(\mathbb{T}^N))$.

Theorem 7.4. Let $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^N)$, T > 0. Assume that the hypotheses (1.3), (1.4), (1.6), (3.1), (4.22) and (4.29) are satisfied. Let u be the solution to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 and let v_{δ} be the solution to the Finite Volume scheme (3.4)-(3.5)-(3.6)-(3.7). Then we have the convergence

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^N \times (0,T))}^p = 0, \tag{7.16}$$

for all $p \in [1, \infty)$.

Remark 7.2. If the X_k^{n+1} are merely i.i.d. random variables with normalized centred normal law $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$, then (v_{δ}) is converging to u in $L^p(\mathbb{T}^N \times (0,T))$ in law when $\delta \to 0$. Indeed, the identity (3.7) is only satisfied in law now, hence v_{δ} has the same law as the function \tilde{v}_{δ} defined by (3.4)-(3.5)-(3.6), with X_k^{n+1} replaced by the right-hand side of (3.7). We apply the conclusion of Theorem 7.4 to \tilde{v}_{δ} . As a corollary, we obtain the convergence in law of (\tilde{v}_{δ}) to u in $L^p(\mathbb{T}^N \times (0,T))$. A slightly different manner of expressing the same thing is to notice that, when the discrete increments (X_k^{n+1}) are some given normal law $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$, then we can construct a set of Brownian motions $\tilde{\beta}_k(t)$ such that

$$X_k^{n+1} = \frac{\tilde{\beta}_k(t_{n+1}) - \tilde{\beta}_k(t_n)}{(\Delta t_n)^{1/2}}.$$
(7.17)

Indeed, without loss of generality, we can restrict ourselves to the case $\Delta t_n = 1$ in (7.17) and use the Lévy-Ciesielski construction of the Brownian motion, [31, Section 3.2] on [0, 1] as follows: we define (*cf.* [31, Formula (3.1)])

$$G_0 = X_k^{n+1}, \ G_1 = X_1^{n+1}, \dots, G_{k-1} = X_{k-1}^{n+1}, \ G_k = X_{k+1}^{n+1}, \ G_{k+1} = X_{k+2}^{n+1}, \dots$$

and we set

$$\tilde{\beta}(t) = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} G_p \langle \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}, H_p \rangle,$$

where the H_p 's are the Haar basis of $L^2(0,1)$. Then (7.17) follows from the fact that

$$\int_0^1 H_p(t)dt = \langle H_p, H_0 \rangle = \delta_{p0}$$

Remark 7.3. Theorem 7.3 has already been proved in [8] (see also Section 5 in [9]) under less restrictive hypotheses (having a compactly supported noise is unnecessary). We give the statement together with Theorem 7.4, however, to emphasize the fact that the convergence of the Finite Volume method, in the framework which we use, give both the existence-uniqueness of the solution to the limit continuous problem, and the convergence of the numerical method to this solution. It is not necessary to provide the existence of the solution u to (1.1) by an external means.

Proof of Theorem 7.3 and Theorem 7.4. Let us first prove the theorem 7.4. We take the existence of u, solution to (1.1) with initial datum u_0 for granted. By Proposition 6.1, Lemma 7.1 and Lemma 7.2, we may apply Theorem 2.2 to f_{δ} : we obtain (7.16) with z_{δ} instead of v_{δ} , where

$$z_{\delta}(x,t) := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \xi d\nu_{x,t}^{\delta}(\xi) = \frac{t-t_n}{\Delta t_n} v_{\delta}^{\sharp}(x,t) + \frac{t_{n+1}-t}{\Delta t_n} v_{\delta}(x,t),$$

for $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1}]$. By (6.2), we have the estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\int_0^T \|z_\delta - v_\delta\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^N)}^2 dt = \mathcal{O}(|\delta|)$$

on the difference between z_{δ} and v_{δ} . This gives (7.16) for $p \leq 2$. If p > 2, we use the inequality

$$\mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{N} \times (0,T))}^{p} \leq \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^{2}(\Omega \times \mathbb{T}^{N} \times (0,T))} \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^{2(p-1)}(\Omega \times \mathbb{T}^{N} \times (0,T))}^{p-1} \\ \leq \frac{1}{\eta} \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{N} \times (0,T))}^{2} + \eta \mathbb{E} \| v_{\delta} - u \|_{L^{2(p-1)}(\mathbb{T}^{N} \times (0,T))}^{2(p-1)}, \quad (7.18)$$

where η is a positive parameter. Due to the uniform bounds (2.2)-(7.13), we can choose η independent on δ to have the second term in (7.18) smaller than an arbitrary threshold. By the convergence result for p = 2 the first term in (7.18) is then also small for δ close to 0. This concludes the proof of theorem 7.4. To prove 7.3, we just need to construct an approximation scheme satisfying (3.1), (4.22) and (4.29) and to compute v_{δ} by (3.4)-(3.5)-(3.6)-(3.7). We can use a cartesian grid for this purpose: let $h_m = \frac{1}{m}$, where $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Let $\mathcal{T}_{\#}$ be the set of open hypercubes of length h_m obtained by translates of the original hypercube $(0, h_m)^N$ by vectors $h_m x$, x having components in $\{0, l \dots, m-1\}$. Then (4.22) is satisfied with $\alpha_N = 2^{-N}$ since a hypercube has 2^N sides. We can choose the Godunov numerical fluxes, defined as follows:

$$A_{K \to L}(v, w) = \begin{cases} |K|L| \min_{v \le \xi \le w} A(\xi) \cdot n_{K,L} & \text{if } v \le w, \\ |K|L| \max_{w \le \xi \le v} A(\xi) \cdot n_{K,L} & \text{if } w \le v. \end{cases}$$

These fluxes $A_{K\to L}$ are monotone (non-increasing in the first variable, non-increasing in the second variable). They satisfy the hypotheses of regularity, consistency (3.1) and (3.2) respectively with $L_A = \text{Lip}(A)$. The conservative symmetry property (3.3) is also satisfied. At last, to ensure (4.29), we just need to take a uniform time step Δt like

$$\Delta t = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha_N^2}{2L_A} h_m.$$

We have then (4.29) with $\theta = \frac{1}{2}$. At this stage, Proposition 6.1 provides a sequence of approximate generalized solutions (f_m) . by the uniform bounds established in Section 7.1, we can apply Theorem 2.2: this gives the existence of a unique solution uto (1.1) with initial datum u_0 . By Corollary 3.3 in [9], we have $u \in C([0,T]; L^p(\mathbb{T}^N))$ almost surely.

References

- C. Bauzet. Time-splitting approximation of the Cauchy problem for a stochastic conservation law. *Math. Comput. Simulation*, 118:73–86, 2015.
- [2] C. Bauzet, J. Charrier, and T. Gallouët. Convergence of flux-splitting finite volume schemes for hyperbolic scalar conservation laws with a multiplicative stochastic perturbation. *Math. Comp.*, 85(302):2777–2813, 2016.
- [3] C. Bauzet, J. Charrier, and T. Gallouët. Convergence of monotone finite volume schemes for hyperbolic scalar conservation laws with multiplicative noise. *Stoch. Partial Differ. Equ. Anal. Comput.*, 4(1):150–223, 2016.
- [4] C. Bauzet, G. Vallet, and P. Wittbold. The Cauchy problem for conservation laws with a multiplicative stochastic perturbation. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ., 9(4):661– 709, 2012.
- [5] C. Bauzet, G. Vallet, and P. Wittbold. The Dirichlet problem for a conservation law with a multiplicative stochastic perturbation. J. Funct. Anal., 266(4):2503–2545, 2014.
- [6] G.-Q. Chen, Q. Ding, and K. H. Karlsen. On nonlinear stochastic balance laws. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 204(3):707–743, 2012.
- [7] G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk. Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions, volume 44 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [8] A. Debussche and J. Vovelle. Scalar conservation laws with stochastic forcing. J. Funct. Anal., 259(4):1014–1042, 2010.
- [9] S. Dotti and J. Vovelle. Convergence of approximations to stochastic scalar conservation laws. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 230(2):539–591, 2018.

- [10] W. E, K. Khanin, A. Mazel, and Y. Sinai. Invariant measures for Burgers equation with stochastic forcing. Ann. of Math. (2), 151(3):877–960, 2000.
- [11] R. Eymard, T. Gallouët, and R. Herbin. Finite volume methods. In *Handbook of numerical analysis, Vol. VII*, Handb. Numer. Anal., VII, pages 713–1020. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2000.
- [12] J. Feng and D. Nualart. Stochastic scalar conservation laws. J. Funct. Anal., 255(2):313–373, 2008.
- [13] B. Gess and P. E. Souganidis. Long-time behavior, invariant measures and regularizing effects for stochastic scalar conservation laws. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 70(8):1562–1597, 2017.
- [14] B. Gess and P. E. Souganidis. Scalar conservation laws with multiple rough fluxes. Communications in Mathematical Sciences, 13(6):1569–1597, 2015.
- [15] B. Gess, B. Perthame, and P. E. Souganidis. Semi-discretization for stochastic scalar conservation laws with multiple rough fluxes. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 54(4):2187–2209, 2016.
- [16] M. Hofmanová. Scalar conservation laws with rough flux and stochastic forcing. Stochastic Partial Differential Equations. Analysis and Computations, 4(3):635–690, 2016.
- [17] H. Holden and N. H. Risebro. A stochastic approach to conservation laws. In *Third International Conference on Hyperbolic Problems, Vol. I, II (Uppsala, 1990)*, pages 575–587. Studentlitteratur, Lund, 1991.
- [18] K. H. Karlsen and E. B. Storrøsten. On stochastic conservation laws and Malliavin calculus. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 272(2):421–497, 2017.
- [19] Y. Kim. Asymptotic behavior of solutions to scalar conservation laws and optimal convergence orders to N-waves. J. Differential Equations, 192(1):202–224, 2003.
- [20] U. Koley, A. K. Majee, and G. Vallet. A finite difference scheme for conservation laws driven by Levy noise. *IMA J. Numer. Anal.*, 38(2):998–1050, 2018.
- [21] I. Kröker and C. Rohde. Finite volume schemes for hyperbolic balance laws with multiplicative noise. Appl. Numer. Math., 62(4):441–456, 2012.
- [22] P.-L. Lions, B. Perthame, and P. E. Souganidis. Scalar conservation laws with rough (stochastic) fluxes. Stoch. Partial Differ. Equ. Anal. Comput., 1(4):664–686, 2013.
- [23] P.-L. Lions, B. Perthame, and P. E. Souganidis. Stochastic averaging lemmas for kinetic equations. In Séminaire Laurent Schwartz—Équations aux dérivées partielles et applications. Année 2011–2012, Sémin. Équ. Dériv. Partielles, pages Exp. No. XXVI, 17. École Polytech., Palaiseau, 2013.

- [24] P.-L. Lions, B. Perthame, and P. E. Souganidis. Scalar conservation laws with rough (stochastic) fluxes: the spatially dependent case. *Stoch. Partial Differ. Equ. Anal. Comput.*, 2(4):517–538, 2014.
- [25] P.-L. Lions, B. Perthame, and E. Tadmor. A kinetic formulation of multidimensional scalar conservation laws and related equations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 7(1):169–191, 1994.
- [26] P.-L. Lions, B. Perthame, and E. Tadmor. Kinetic formulation of the isentropic gas dynamics and p-systems. Comm. Math. Phys., 163(2):415–431, 1994.
- [27] C. Makridakis and B. Perthame. Sharp CFL, discrete kinetic formulation, and entropic schemes for scalar conservation laws. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 41(3):1032– 1051, 2003.
- [28] K. Mohamed, M. Seaid, and M. Zahri. A finite volume method for scalar conservation laws with stochastic time–space dependent flux functions. J. Comput. Appl. Math., 237(1):614–632, 2013.
- [29] B. Perthame. Uniqueness and error estimates in first order quasilinear conservation laws via the kinetic entropy defect measure. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 77(10):1055– 1064, 1998.
- [30] B. Perthame. Kinetic formulation of conservation laws, volume 21 of Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002.
- [31] R. L. Schilling and L. Partzsch. Brownian Motion. De Gruyter Graduate. De Gruyter, Berlin, second edition, 2014. An introduction to stochastic processes, With a chapter on simulation by Björn Böttcher.
- [32] G. Vallet and P. Wittbold. On a stochastic first-order hyperbolic equation in a bounded domain. *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.*, 12(4):613– 651, 2009.